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About the cover:

BUILDING A NEW BRAND

In 2006, Martek launched a new corporate branding initiative that reflects its

ongoing commitment 10 exploring innovative solutions 10 improve and enrich health
throughout the lifecycle. The initiative included not only a new corporate logo and tagline

but a new brand name and logo for its flagship DHA product. With the corporate tagline
“life enviched.” Martek's new logo captures the mission of the company — to develop scientific
approaches to improving health throughout the lifecycle. Formerly know as Martek DHA™, the
company's flagship product, a vegetarian source of the omeqa-3 fatty acid DHA (docosahexaenoic
acid), is now called fife’sDHA™. The logo includes the words “healthy brain, eyes, heart” to help
the consumer readily understand the product’s health benefits.

The branding initiative was based on extensive development and consumer research conducted by
Martek to discover the language and imagery that would capture the true vision, values and spirit
of the company while resonating with our customers and ultimately, the consumer.

Our new brand combines Martek’s history of scientific excellence, business integrity, and service
to human health with an inspiring and approachable corporate and product brand that is
instantly recognizable to the consumers we serve.

o lifesDHA

HEALTHYoBRAINCEYESOHEART




LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS

February 2007

Dear Fellow Martek Shareholders,

Martek made progress on several fronts in 2006. Financially, revenues increased by 24%
to $271 million and net income increased 17% to $18 million. Net income would have
increased by 50% without (i) the costs of a manufacturing plant restructuring that we
implemented at the end of the year, and (ii) charges related to non-cash compensation that
resulted from the implementation of new accounting rules that took effect in 2006.

In addition, Martek became cash flow positive for the first time in the Company’s

history, generating free cash flow that enabled us to reduce our long-term debt facility

to $36 million.

Infant formula related revenue increased by 27% to $241 million in 2006 as a result of the
share of U.S. formulas containing Martek’s oils growing from 80% to 87%, and continued
growth in the usage of our oils outside the U.S. During the year, we signed licenses for the
use of our nutritional oils with six new infant formula companies and expanded the
licensed markets of six other licensees. In the U.S., an additional eleven states offered, or
soon will be offering, formulas with our oils under their WIC programs. This growth in
infant formula related revenue is driven by the continued scientific support behind the
benefits of our oils coupled with the desire of parents around the world to provide their
children with the best nutrition available to optimally develop their brains and eyes.

Of the $271 million in revenues generated in 2006, docosahexaenoic acid (DHA)-derived
revenues that were not related to infant formula grew to $12 million. During 2006, as
noted in more detail below, we made progress toward putting in place the building blocks
for growing these sales even further in 2007, 2008 and beyond.

At 38%, Martek’s gross margin in 2006 was adversely impacted by our excess plant
capacity and the increased cost of ARA we purchased from DSM, our ARA supplier. In
order to address our excess plant capacity, at the end of 2006 we restructured our
manufacturing operations by moving a number of production processes to the Kingstree,
South Carolina plant from the Winchester, Kentucky plant and reducing our workforce in
Winchester by approximately ninety people. This restructuring of Martek’s manufacturing
operations is expected to eliminate a majority of our idle capacity charges and offset a
significant portion of the impact of higher ARA costs on our 2007 gross margin.

While I am pleased with Martek’s 2006 revenue growth and our progress in expanding
our revenue base outside of the infant formula business, we need to accelerate our growth
beyond infant formula and improve our gross margins. We plan to focus on both of these
objectives in 2007.




On the cost side, as | mentioned above, at year-end 2006 we took steps to improve our
2007 manufacturing margins with the restructuring of Martek’s plant operations. We also
put in place a number of variable cost reduction initiatives that should help to lower our
DHA production and other manufacturing costs. Martek’s attention is now focused on
reducing our cost of ARA in order to further improve our gross margins. We are working
in conjunction with our ARA manufacturing partner, DSM, to reduce ARA costs and to
continue to improve ARA production efficiencies.

On the revenue side, we are expecting growth in 2007 sales of DHA and ARA to our
infant formula customers, although that growth will probably be lower than we
experienced in 2006. This slowing is primarily a result of Martek presently having
captured nearly 90% of the U.S. market coupled with a decline in the use of infant
formula in the U.S. Outside of the U.S., we are experiencing a higher rate of growth and
ihe use of infant formula is increasing in certain emerging markets. Sales of DHA for use
in other markets should grow at a much faster rate, but will still comprise less than 10% of
Martek’s total 2007 revenues. I am optimistic that we will continue to make progress in
diversifying our customer base beyond the infant formula market in 2007, and believe
we made significant progress in building the foundation to do so during 2006.

We increased our resources in order to assist food and beverage customers with their
formulations so that they can successfully enrich products with fife 'sDHA™ while
maintaining their products’ same great taste. We signed long-term sole source supply
agreements to provide our life’ sDHA™ to: General Mills for use in certain food products;
WhiteWave Foods, the largest U.S. producer of soy-based beverages, for use in those soy-
based beverages; Mission Pharmacal Company, makers of Citracal® branded dietary
supplements, for use in prescription pregnancy and nursing products; and Everett Labs for
use in prescription prenatal products. Fiscal year 2006 saw the launch of several food and
beverage products containing life sSDHA™, including the nationally branded launch of
several soy-based beverages in the U.S. by Odwalla (an affiliate of the Coca-Cola
Company), as well as the launch of yogurts in Spain and ltaly. Just recently, General Mills
announced plans to add /ife sDHAT™ to its entire line of Yoplait Kids® brand of yogurt
and this fortified version will be available at retailers nationwide in mid-February 2007.

[n an effort to build brand awareness and value, a new branding initiative was launched
that included a new brand name, life sSDHA™, and new logo for our flagship DHA
product, a new corporate logo and tagline, and a redesigned Web site. Based on extensive
consumer research conducted by Martek, the new name, logo and tagline are desi gned to
be consumer friendly and to communicate the importance of DHA for healthy brains, eyes
and hearts throughout the lifecycle. The life '«DHA™ brand name and logo have been well
received by both our customers and consumers. All of the food and beverage products
mentioned above containing life 'sDHA™ have, or will have, the life sDHA™ logo
displayed on the package.

Additional scientific studies supporting the health benefits of DHA were published in
2006, and Martek’s life’ sDHA™, a vegetarian source of DHA derived from microalgae,
was the only DHA source selected for use in a multi-million dollar National Institutes of




Health (NIH)-funded study on the effects of DHA in slowing the progression of
Alzheimer's disease, scheduled to start in 2007. This study, sponsored by the National
Institute on Aging (NIA), one of the 27 Institutes and Centers of NIH, will determine
whether DHA supplementation slows the progression of cognitive and functional decline
in patients with mild to moderate Alzheimer's disease. This study is being funded by a
NIA/NIH grant to the Alzheimer's Disease Cooperative Study (ADCS), a cooperative
agreement between the NIA and the University of California San Diego that was founded
to advance research in the development of drugs that might be useful for treating
Alzheimer's, particularly those therapies that might be overlooked by industry.
Approximately $10.5 million of the ADCS grant is earmarked to fund this DHA study.

We made a number of important additions to our sales and marketing team that should
position us well for the future. Experienced professionals from a number of nutritional
products, consumer food products and food ingredient companies with relationships at our
target customers joined Martek during 2006 and their presence is already having a positive
impact. We also increased our sales presence in Europe and opened up a sales office in
China in order to better serve customers around the world who are looking to enhance
their products with /ife 'sDHA™.

Fueled by a growing body of scientific evidence supporting the health benefits of DHA
throughout life, the momentum is building in both the level of interest in, and demand for,
food, beverage and supplement products containing /ife 'sDHA™ -- and there is a pipeline
of additional product launches planned for 2007 by a broad spectrum of customers. These
launches will be more numerous than in 2006 and should include a number of products
that contain /ife 'sDHA™ introduced by several major food and beverage companies. By
the end of 2007, we should be seeing a wide variety of products enriched with
life'sDHA™ on store shelves, appealing to consumers of all ages.

In 2007, we plan to use some of the savings from the restructuring of our manufacturing
operations to increase our sales and marketing expenditures as we pursue our long-term
plan of expanding the use of DHA beyond infant formula and build upon last year’s
progress. We will need to invest in sales and marketing, including expanding our efforts
outside of the U.S., if we want to continue to build upon the foundation for growth in
foods and supplements in 2007 and beyond. I think the investment is worth it, because I
believe that DHA is beneficial to health, and the scientific evidence continues to grow in
support of our position. Martek’s vision is that everyone should be taking 200-300mg of
DHA per day. At retail, an individual should be able to consume 200-300mg of DHA in a
variety of forms for 25-50 cents per day, which [ believe is a small price to pay for the
potential brain, eye and heart health benefits. So, as the science continues to support us,
DHA should catch on in foods and supplements and we should get our fair share of the
market as a result of the benefits of our vegetarian and sustainable form of DHA,

life sDHA™.

In addition to our efforts to expand the markets for DHA, Martek is also working on some
exciting new life-science based products to promote health and well-being throughout life.
[ hope to be able to tell you more about in these products in future letters.




As we look ahead to new horizons, we are grateful for the solid foundation upon which
Martek now builds, thanks to the vision and leadership of my predecessor, Pete Linsert,
who continues to inspire and encourage us to succeed in our efforts to provide the health
benefits of our nutritional products to as many people worldwide as possible.

Sincerely,

YA

Steve Dubin
CEQO










OVERVIEW

Martek Biosciences Corporation is a leader in the innovation and development of omega-3 DHA products that promote health and wellness through
every stage of life. The Company produces /ife'sD)HA™, a vegetarian source of the omega-3 fatty acid DHA (docosahexaenoic acid), for use in infant
formula, perinatal products, foods and beverages and dietary supplements, and ARA (arachidonic acid), an omega-6 fawy acid, for use in infant
formula.

NUTRITIONAL PRODUCTS

We have developed production methods and intellectual property for two important fatty acids. These fatty acids are DHA and ARA. We sell oils
containing these fatty acids under the names DHASCO®, /ife sDHA™, Neuromins® and ARASCO®. We derive DHA from microalgae and ARA
from fungt, using proprietary processes. Cell membranes throughout the body contain these fatty acids, and they are particularly concentrated in the
brain, central nervous system. retina and heart, Research has shown that DHA and ARA may enhance mental and visual development in infants. In
addition, research has shown that DHA may play a pivotal role in brain function throughout life and may reduce the risk of cardiovascular disease.
Low levels of DHA in adults have been linked to a varicty of health risks, including Alzheimer’s disease and dementia. Further research is underway
to assess the role of supplementation with our DHA on mitigating a variety of health risks. We are targeting the infant formula, perinatal, food and
beverage and dietary supplement markets for sales of our nutritional oils.

An adult may obtain DHA via a limited number of foods such as fish, eggs or organ meats. ARA may be obtained from foods such as red meats, fish
and eggs. A pregnant mother passes DHA and ARA through the placenta to the fetus and a lactating mother passes DHA and ARA to an infant
through breast milk. Several international scientific and health agencies have made recommendations for DHA and ARA consumption for infants and
for DHA intake for pregnant and nursing women, While there are currently no universally recognized guidelines for daily coensumption of DHA by
adults, a workshop sponsored by various groups, including the [nternational Society for the Study of Fatty Acids and Lipids, recommended that adults
consume at least 220 mg of DHA daily. In addition, the Institute of' Medicine in its 20035 report of Recommended Dietary Intakes has suggested that
an appropriate level of DHA intake is 160 mg of DHA per day. The U.S. Department of Health and Human Services indicated that dietary
censumption of DHA is well below these levels. We believe that greater recognition of this possible dietary deficiency will result in an increase in
demand for DHA-supplemented products. Recommendations for ARA consumption by adults have not been put forth and may not be necessary as
adequate amounts of ARA are likely consumed in the typical adult diet.

Investigators at the National Institutes of Health ("NIH") and other research centers have observed a relationship between low levels of DHA and a
variety of health risks, including increased cardiovascular problems. Alzheimer's disease and dementia as well as other neurological and visual
disorders. We sponsor and participate with others in research to determine the benefit of DHA supplementation on cardiovascular health, Alzheimer's
disease and dementia. Additionally, there are ongoing studies using Martek oils on the benefits of DHA supplementation during pregnancy and
nursing lo assess the outcomes on both mother and child.

[n May 2001, the Food and Drug Administration ("FDA") completed a favorable review of our generally recognized as safe ("GRAS") notification for
the usc of our DHASCO® and ARASCO® oil blend in specified ratios in infant formulas. Since the first product introduction in February 2002,
supplemented infant formulas manufactured by four of our licensees have been sold in the United States: Mead Johnson Nutritionals under the
Enfamil®LIPIL® brand; the Ross Products Division of Abbott Laboratories under its Similac® ADVANCE® brand; Nestle under its Good Start®
Supreme DHA & ARA and NAN® DHA & ARA brands; and PBM Products Inc. under the brand Bright Beginnings™ and under private label brands,
including Wal-Mart Parent's Choice™. These supplemented infant formulas include term, preterm, soy-based, specialty and toddler products. As of
October 31, 2006, we estimate that formula supplemented with our oils had penetrated approximately 85% of the U.S. infant formula market.

We have entered into license agreements with 24 infant formula manufacturers, who collectively represent approximately 70% of the estimated $8.5
to $9.5 billion worldwide wholesale market for infant formula and nearly 100% of the estimated $3.0 to $3.5 billion U.S. wholesale market for infant
formula, including the wholesale value of Women, Infant & Children program ("WIC") rebates. WIC is a federal grant program administered by the
states for the benefit of low-income. nutritionally at-risk women, infants and children. Currently, W1C programs in 48 states and the District of
Columbia offer term infant formula supplemented with our oils and WIC programs in all 50 states and the District of Columbia have adopted certain
specialty infant formula products supplemented with our eils. Our licensees include infant formula market leaders Mead Johnson Nutritionals, Nestle,
Abbott Laboratories. Wyeth and Royal Numico, each of whom is selling infant formula fortified with our nutritional oils. Our licensees sell term
infant formula products containing our oils collectively in over 30 countries and preterm infant formula products containing our oils collectively in
over 60 countries around the world, Preterm infant formula products comprise less than 3% of the total infant formula market worldwide, 1n addition,
certain licensees are selling products in the United States and abroad that contain our nutritional oils and target the markets for children ages nine
months to two years as well as pregnant and nursing women,

Martek holds patents on certain separate and distinct DHA technology, which we refer to as DHA-S, that is derived from a different algal strain than
our DHA authorized for addition to infant formula. We have received authorization from both the European Commission and the Australia New

Zealand Food Authority for the use of DHA-$ oil as a Novel Food ingredient. This Novel Food designation authorizes the use of our DHA-S as an
ingredient in certain foods such as certain dairy products, including cheese and yogurt (but not milk-based drinks), spreads and dressings, breakfast
cereals, food supplements and dietary foods for special medical purposes in the European Community. We have also received a favorable review by
the FDA of aur GRAS notification for the use of DHA-S in food and beverage applications in the U.S. and have received similar approvals in Canada.




We are currently selling DHA-S products into the dietary supplement, food and beverage and animal feed markets domestically and internationally.
Furthermore, we have recently signed DHA license and supply agreements with several large food and beverage companies and anticipate product
launches from certain of these comparnies during fiscal 2007.

CONTRACT MANUFACTURING

We provide certain contract manufacturing services at our Kingstree. South Carolina facility. The facility's large fermentation capacity and numerous
types of recovery equipment allow us to customize production processes for our customers and produce at significant volumes. Qur contract
manufacturing services are particularly well-suited for the contracted production of enzymes, specialty chemicals, vitamins and agricultural specialty
products.

FLUORESCENT DETECTION PRODLCTS

We have also developed fluorescent detection products from algae that connect fluorescent algal proteins 0 antibodies. Because the compound itself
cannol be seen, the connected antibodies (with their algal fluors) then attach to a compound of interest to tag or mark that compound. Compound
detection is then made or not made based on whether the fluor is seen. These products have potential applications in automated biological screening to
find new compounds or reduce drug discovery time. Qur products bring greater speed, sensitivity and simplicity 10 existing tests and applications.

PRODUCTS AND PRODUCT CANDIDATES
NUTRITIONAL OILS
Infant Formula Applications

Certain microalgae and fungi produce large quantities of oils and fats containing long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids, known as PUFAs that are
important to human nutrition and health. We have identified strains of microalgae that produce oils rich in DHA and have developed the means 1o
grow them by fermentation. In addition, we have isolated and cultured a strain of fungus that produces large amounts of ARA,

DHA is the predominant omega-3 fatty acid in the brain and retina of the eye and is a key component of heart tissue in humans and other mamimals.
Both DHA and ARA are important for infant brain and eye development which occurs primarily in the last trimester in-utero, and conlinues
throughout the first few years of life. During pregnancy, DHA and ARA are actively transported from the mother to the fetus via the placenta.
Following birth, the infant receives these fatty acids from either breast milk (which always contains DHA and ARA) or infant formula supplemented
with DHA and ARA. All humans, including infants, can synthesize DHA from a precursor fatty acid, alpha-linolenic acid ("ALA"}). However, the
synthesis of DHA from ALA is inefficient and inconsistent. With DHA supplemented infant formula, formula-fed infants have blood and tissue levels
of DHA that are similar to those of breastfed infants. DHA and ARA supplementation is gspecially important for premature infants who failed to
complete the last trimester of pregnancy in utero. Studies of infant formulas containing our oils show that blood and tissue levels of DHA and ARA
in formula-fed infants equal that of breastfed infants. DHA and ARA were added to U.S. infant formulas beginning in 2002, and Martek's DHA and
ARA continue to be the only DHA and ARA included in infant formula in the U.S.

Fish oils can also be used for DHA supplementation in infant formula, However, we believe that for a number of reasons our DHA oil is more
desirable for infant formula applications than fish oil or other sources of DHA. Our oils are derived from a vegetarian source and are grown under
tightly controlled conditions. As a result. Martek oils do not contain contaminants such as methylmercury, polychiorinated biphenyls ("PCBs") and
dioxins that may be found in fish oil. Our oils do not contain significant quantities of eicosapentaenoic acid {(“EPA™), an omega-3 fatty acid found in
fish which is not appropriate for consumption by infants in high Jevels. Both algal and fish oils are in the form of casily digestible triglycerides similar
to the major form found in breast milk. Martek oils have the benefit, however, of higher oxidative stability and longer shelf life than does fish oil. A
study on premature infants conducted by Dr. M. T. Clandinin and others published in April 2005 in The Journal of Pediatrics directly compared infant
formula supplemented with DHA from Martek oils to a formula supplemented with DHA from fish oil . Both formulas also contained ARA, The
results showed that the formula supplemented with DHA from Martek oil was superior to the formula supplemented with DHA from fish oil in
supparting growth in the manner most similar to that of breastfed infants at 18 months of age.

Although not all experts agree on the essentiality of DHA and ARA for infants, the following recent examples show the benefits of including DHA
and ARA in the infant diet:

e A study conducted by Dr. N. Pastor and others published in November 2006 in Clinical Pediatrics found that infants fed a formula
containing 17 mg DHA and 34 mg ARA per 100 keal had fewer episodes of bronchiolitis and bronchitis at ages 5, 7, and 9 months
compared to infants receiving control formula not containing these added long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids.

e A study conducted by Dr. C. Agostoni and others published in March 2006 in Developmental Medicine & Child Neurcology found that in
children with the rare genetic disorder phenylketonuria (PKU). the addition of DHA in formula was associated with improved visual scores.
This study used Martek’s oils.




* A study conducted by Dr. S. Hart and others published in August 2005 in the Journal of Pediatric Psychology revealed a positive
correlation between DHA levels in breast milk and newborn neurobehavioral function, The study analyzed the DHA content of breast milk
collected from 20 breastfeeding mothers nine days atter delivery. At the same time, their infants were tested for neurobehavioral
functioning using the Brazelton Neonatal Behavioral Assessment Scale (NBAS), a commonly used behavioral test. Analysis revealed a
positive correlation between DHA levels in the mother's breast milk and the child's NBAS score.

* A study conducted by Dr. E. Birch and others published in April 2005 in the American Journal of Clinical Nutrition found that DHA and
ARA supplementation of term infant formula during the first year of life resulted in improved visual function in 12-month old infants
compared to those without supplementation. This study used Martek's oils.

* A summary of four randomized control trials conducted by Dr. S. Morale and others published in February 2005 in Early Human
Development showed a continued benefit to visual development as the result of DHA and ARA supplementation in formula-fed infants
throughout the first year of life.

¢ A study conducted by Dr. D. Hoffman and others published in the June 2003 issue of The Journal of Pediarrics teponted that infants who
were breast-fed from birth to between four and six months of age and then weaned onto formula supplemented with DHA and ARA
experienced significantly improved visual development at one year of age compared to infants who were breast-fed and then weaned onto
formula without DHA and ARA. This study used Martek's oils.

¢ Astudy conducted by Dr. E. Birch and others published in March 2002 in the American Journal of Clinical Nutrition found that infants who
were breast-fed for six weeks and then weaned to DHA and ARA supplemented infant formula had significantly better visual acuity at 17, |
26 and 52 weeks of age and significantly better stereoacuity at 17 weeks of age than infants who were weaned to non-supplemented formula.
This study used Martek's oils.

DHA and ARA have been recognized as important in the infant diet and recommended for inclusion in infant formula by several expert panels,
including: the United Nations Food and Agricultural Organization and the World Health Organization ("FAO/WHO"); International Society for the
Study of Fatty Acids and Lipids sponsored workshop panel; an expert panel sponsored by the Child Health Foundation; and the British Nutrition
Foundation ("BNF"). Recent additions to expert groups making recommendations regarding the addition of DHA and ARA 1o infant formula include:

o Global Stendard for the Composition of Infant Formula: Recommendations of an ESPGHAN Coordinated International Expert Group,
authored by B. Koletzko and others published in Jourral of Pediatric Gastroenterology and Nutrition in November 2005, and

Feeding Preterm Infants After Hospital Discharge: A Commentary by the ESPGHAN Committee on Nutrition, authored by P. Aggett and
others published in Journal of Pediatric Gastroenterology and Nutrition in May 2006.

Our infant formula licensees are now selling term infant formula products containing our oils collectively in over 30 countries and preterm infan
formula products containing our oils coliectively in over 60 countries around the world. Preterm infant formula products comprise less than 3% of the
total infant formula market worldwide. Supplemented infant formulas manufactured by four of our licensees are currently being sold in the United
States. Our sales of nutritional oils for infant formula were approximately $240.5 million, $189.1 million and $161.3 million in fiscal 2006, 2005 and
2004, respectively. Mead Johnson Nutritionals accounted for approximately 45%, 49% and 55% of our total product sales in fiscal 2006, 2005 and
2004, respectively. Abbott Laboratories accounted for approximately 16%, 17% and 16% of our total product sales in fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004,
respectively. Nestle accounted for approximately 12%, 11% and 8% of our total product sales in fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. Wyeth
accounted for approximately 10%, 11% and 11% of our total product sales in fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. In addition, due to the success
of fortified infant formula, several of our licensees are selling extension products containing our oils beyond infant formula that are targeted for
children ages nine months to two years of age.

Applications for Pregnant and Nursing Women

DHA is transferred from the mother to the fetus during pregnancy and panticularly during the last trimester. Following birth, the mother transfers
DHA 1o her newborn through breast milk. Therefore, an adequate intake of DHA during pregnancy and nursing is thought to be important and many

public health agencies such as the World Health Organization ("WHO") and International Society for the Study of Fatty Acids and Lipids ("ISSFAL")
have made recommendations for DHA intake during the perinatal period. During the PeriLip meeting, a European Union supported Consensus
Conference on “Dietary Fat Intake During the Perinatal Period” (September 2005, Germany), the following recommendation was made regarding
DHA supplementation: “pregnant and lactating women should aim to achieve a dietary intake of n-3 LCPUFA [omega-3 long-chain polyunsaturated
fatty acid] that supplies a DHA intake of at least 200 mg/day.”

Supplementation of breastfeeding mothers with DHA has shown to increase the level of DHA found in breast milk. Recent studies show benefits for
breastfed infants of DHA-supplemented mothers:

¢ A study conducted by Dr. C, Jensen and others published in July 2005 in the American Journal of Clinical Nutrition noted that infants of
mothers who supplemented with /ife sDHA™ while breastfeeding had improved psychomotor skills at 2 ' years of age. The study involved
227 breastfeeding mothers who were given a 200 mg capsule of /ife 'sDHA™ or placebo daily for 4 months beginning 5 days after delivery
and revealed that children of DHA-supplemented mothers scored significantly higher on the Bayley Psychomotor Development Index
{PDI), when compared to the children of the non-supplemented breastfeeding mothers. The study also confirmed that DHA
supplementation while breastfeeding effectively increases DHA levels in the mother's milk as it noted that the mothers supplemented with
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DHA had 75% more DHA in their breast milk than the control group and their infants had 35% higher DHA blood Ievels than the control
group infants. This study was partially funded by Martek.

e A statistical analysis of many previously reported studies was conducted by Dr. J. Cohen and others. This analysis, published in November
2005 in the American Journal of Preventive Medicine, described a risk/ benefit associated with the prenatal intake of DHA on infant
cognitive development. The analysis showed that an increase to maternal DHA intake yielded modest improvement in child 1Q.

e A study conducted by Dr. 1. Helland and others published in January 2003 in Pediatrics found that mothers who supplemented their dict
with fatty acids rich in DHA during pregnancy and nursing gave birth to children who scored higher on standardized intelligence and
achicvement tests at four years of age than those whose mothers supplemented with fatty acids that do not contain DHA. According to the

study. data demonstrated that children born to mothers who had waken cod liver oil, which is rich in DHA and other omega-3 fatty acids,
during pregnancy and nursing scored significantly higher (approximately 4.1 points) on the Mental Processing Composite of the K-ABC
test as compared to children whose mothers had received corn oil.

« A study conducted by Dr. C. Smuts and others published in March 2003 in Obstetrics and Gynecology found that expectant mothers at risk
for preterm birth, who increased their dietary intake of DHA during the last trimester of pregnancy through DHA enriched eggs. increased
their length of gestation by six days compared 1o mothers who received regular eggs during late pregnancy. These researchers also

published in the July/August 2004 issue of Child Development their study results showing that infants whose mothers had high DHA levels
at birth had improved attention skills at 18 months of age.

Additional rescarch is underway to further evaluate DHA supplementation during pregnancy and nursing. We are currently providing DHA
supplements to several researchers who are evaluating potential benefits of matemnal DHA supplementation during pregnancy and nursing on
pregnancy outcomes and infant development.

Mead Johnson Nutritionals is selling 2 product in the United States, Expecta™LIPIL®, which contains our DHA oil and targets pregnant and nursing
women. Sciele Pharma, Inc. is selling a prescription prenatal supplermnent OptiNate™ containing fife sDHA™: Mission Pharmacal is selling a
prescription prenatal supplement Citracal® Prenatal + DHA containing life sDHA™. Vincent Foods, LLC is selling Oh Mama! nutrition bars
containing fife sDHA™: and NutraBella is selling Bellybar™ nutrition bars containing fife sDHA™, all of which also target pregnant and nursing
women.

Cognitive Function, C ardiovascular Health and Other Human Applications

Investigators at universities around the world and at other research centers, such as NIH. have observed a relationship between low levels of DHA and
a variety of health risks, including increased cardiovascular problems, Alzheimer's disease and dementia and various other neurological and visual
disorders. We are currently trying to establish what contribution, if any. supplementation with our oils will make in addressing these problems. We, as
well as others, are supporting studies to further investigate the potential benefit of DHA supplementation on cardiovascular health, and we, as well as
others, including NIH. are conducting research regarding the impact of DHA supplementation on certain visual and neurological disorders.

DHA and cognitive function- Discussed below are the findings of several recently published studics that highlight the benefits of DHA on the risk of
Alzheimer's diseasc and age-related dementia.

e A study published by Dr. E. Schaefer and others in the Archives of Neurology in November 2006 investigated the relationship of blood
DHA levels and the development of dementia in a prospective follow-up study of the participants in the Framingham Heart Study. The
results of the study noted that subjects with the highest levels of plasma DHA (top 20%) had a significant reduction in the risk of developing

dementia from all causes. The study was partially funded by Martek.

e A scientific review on DHA performed by Dr. J. Marszalek and Dr. H. Lodish published in June 2005 in Annual Review of Cell and
Developmental Biology suggests the significant role that DHA plays in the maintenance of normal neurological function.

e The results of an in vitro study conducted by Dr. W. Lukiw and others published in October 2005 in the Journal of Clinical Investigation
suggest that DHA intake could benefit people with Alzheimer’s disease by lowering the accumulation of amyloid-B peptides, which are
associated with brain aging and Alzheimer’s.

e The results of an in vitro study conducted by Dr. S. Florent and others published in November 2005 in the Journal of Neurochemistry notes
that DHA enrichment likely induces changes in neurconal membrane properties that may assist in the prevention of Alzheimer's disease and
other neurodegenerative diseases.

o In September 2004, the results of an animal study conducted by the Dr. F. Calon and others and the UCLA School of Medicine and
published in the jourmal Neuron noted the effects of Martek's DHA on the advancement of Alzheimer's disease in laboratory mice. The
study found that a diet rich in DHA significantly lessened the memory loss and cell damage associated with Alzheimer's disease in

laboratory mice. This laboratory extended these findings during 2005 with additional data. In vitro research conducted by Dr. N. Bazan and
published in 2005 in Molecular Neurobiology detected a metabolite of DHA that appears 10 have a protective role in neural cell survival and
Alzheimer’s disease.




[n July 2003, the results of a study conducted by Dr. M.C. Morris and others published in the Archives of Neurology indicated that weekly
consumption of fish and dietary intake of DHA, but not other omega-3 fatty acids, are associated with a reduced risk of Alzheimer's discase
by up to 60 percent. The study examined whether fish consumption and the associated intakes of omega-3 fatty acids would afford a
protective effect against Alzheimer's discase. A total of 815 subjects, aged 65 to 94, who were initially unaffected by Alzheimer's disease,
participated in the study and were followed for an average of 3.9 years for the development of Alzheimer's disease. The study showed that
in those individuals consuming the highest amounts of dietary DHA, the risk of developing Alzheimer's disease was reduced by up to 60
percent. The risk of developing Alzheimer's disease was not correlated with EPA consumption.

In 2005, the Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality ("AHRQ") of the United States Depariment of Health and Human Services issued a report
on the effects of omega-3 fatty acids on cognitive function with respect to persons experiencing aging, dementia and neurological diseases. They
stated “Total omega3 FA [omega-3 fatty acid] consumption and consumption of DHA (but not ALA or EPA) were associated with a significant
reduction in the incidence of Alzheimer's.” Additional research is needed to evaluate the role, if any, of DHA supplementation in reducing the risk of
developing these diseases.

DHA and cardiovascular health- Discussed below are the findings of several recently published studies that highlight the benefits of DHA on
cardiovascular health while, in some cases, cautioning people of the potential risks associated with the intake of certain fish.

A study published by Dr. A. Erkkili and others in the Journal of Lipid Research in September 2006 noted an important relationship between
plasma DHA levels and the reduced progression of cardiac disease. Specifically. women whose DHA levels were above the median at
enrollment had slower progression of coronary artery stenosis over a three-year period. This effect was not seen with the other omega-3
fatty acids, ALA or EPA.

A review conducted by Dr. C. Wang and others published in July 2006 in The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition stated that evidence
suggests that increased consumption of tong-chain omega-3 fatty acids, but not alpha-linolenic acid, reduces all cause mortality, cardiac and
sudden death, and possibly stroke. /ife 'sDHA™ is a long-chain omega-3 fatty acid.

A Scientific Statement entitled "Diet and Lifestyle Recommendations Revision 2006" published by Dr. A, Lichtenstein and other members
of the American Heart Association Nutrition Committee published in July 2006 in Circulation included a recommendation that people
with documented heart disease consume approximately one gram of DHA and cicosapentaenoic acid (EPA) per week. They affirm that
with appropriate medical advice, use of supplements may be substituted for fish.

The results of a study conducted by Dr. K. Maki and others and published in the Journa! of the American College of Nutrition in June 2005
demonstrated that /ife sDHA™ lowered triglycerides. These subjects consumed 1.5 grams DHA per day or a placebo for six weeks. This
study was sponsored by Martek.

Dr. K. Stark and Dr. B. Holub reported in May 2004 in the American Journal of Clinical Nutrition that DHA supplementation of 32
postmenopausal women with 2.8 grams DHA from Martek's DHA oil per day for | month resulted in a 20% reduction in triglycerides, a
6-10% increase in HDL cholesterol {"good" cholesterol) and a 7% reduction in heart rate relative to placebo, suggesting that DHA may
favorably influence selected cardiovascular risk factors in postmenopausal women.

In May 2002, in the publication Circulation, the American Heart Association ("AHA") issued a Scientific Statement entitled "Fish
Consumption, Fish Oil, Omega-3 Fatty Acids, and Cardiovascular Disease.” The Scientific Statement outlines the findings of a
comprehensive report that examined the cardiovascular health benefit of omega-3 fatty acids, specifically DHA and EPA, from fish sources.
The repont concluded that consumption of such omega-3 fatty acids, either through diet or supplements, reduces the incidence of
cardiovascular disease. The statement refers to studies that have indicated the following to be associated with the intake of omega-3 fatty
acids:

®  decreased risk of sudden death and arrhythmia;

¢ decreased thrombosis (blood clot):

e decreased triglyceride levels;

¢ decreased growth of atherosclerotic plague;

s improved arterial health; and

e lower blood pressure.

The Scientific Statement concluded that omega-3 fatty acids have been shown in epidemiotogical and clinical trials to reduce the incidence
of heart disease and recommends that healthy individuals eat a variety of fish (preferably oily) at least twice a week. The statement
cautioned, however, that fish intake "must be balanced with concerns about environmental pollutants” because some species of fish may

contain significant levels of methylmercury, pelychlorinated biphenyls {"PCBs"), dioxins, and other contaminants, Both the FDA and the
Environmental Protection Agency have advised children, pregnant women, women who may become pregnant and nursing mothers to limit




their intake of certain fish. In consideration of the health risks posed by such contaminants, the authors of the statement conclude by stating,

"The availability of high-quality omega-3 fatty acid suppiements, free of contaminants, is an important prerequisite to their extensive use.”
Martek's DHA oil is detived from a vegetarian source and is free of contaminants that may be found in fish oil.

e A study published by D. Mozaffarian in October 2006 in the Journal of the American Medical Association reviewed the health effects of
{ish consumption. Based on the risks of fish intake that must be considered in the context of the benefits, the author concludes that the
benefits of a modest fish consumption (1-2 servings/wk) outweigh the disks in healthy adults. The author, however, cautions women of

childbearing age to avoid consumption of those species currently known to contain high levels of contaminants.

In September 2004, the FDA announced that it would allow conventional foods and beverages and dietary supplements containing DHA and EPA to
make a qualified health claim for reduced risk of corenary heart disease on their product packaging. A qualified health claim must be supported by
credible scientific evidence. Upon review of this scientific evidence, the FDA concluded that supportive but not conclusive research shows that
consumption of DHA and EPA may reduce the risk of coronary heart disease. This qualificd health claim supports the benefit of Martek's DHA-S oil,
as it contains both DHA and small amounts of EPA.

While there is not yet a scientific consensus on the subject, 2 number of clinical studies, including several listed abave, as well as others conducted by
Australian and European researchers and published in Hypertension in 1999, the American Journal of Clinical Nutrition in 1997 and 2000, Diabetes
Care in 2003, and the European Journal of Clinical Nutrition in 1996, have indicated that pure DHA sources, including Martek’s DHA oil, exhibit the
main cardioprotective benefits traditionally ascribed to fish consumption or to the combination of DHA plus EPA. Such research has indicated that
DHA. in the absence of EPA, may have the following effects on cardiovascular risk factors:

e reduces triglycerides and raises the HPL or “good™ cholesterol:
« reduces blood pressure;

¢ reduces heart rate; and

e increases L.DL and HDL cholestero! particle size.

Life'sDHA™ is sold as an ingredient to supplement manufacturers. Neuromins® is a Martek supplement brand which contains fife'sDHA™, The

Neuromins® brand is sold directly by Martek as well as distributed and sold under license by several leading supplement manufacturers and can be
found nationwide. We are currently marketing food and beverage and animal feed applications to both 1J.5. and intemational companies. Several egg
producers, including Gold Circle Farms®, are producing €ggs and liquid eggs using our DHA. These eggs are sold in several grocery store chains in
the U.S. and Europe. In addition, a variety of both domestic and international companies have launched foods or beverages that contain fife' sDHA™.

We are aggressively pursuing further penetration of our DHA oils in the food and beverage market, We are in discussions with several companics in
the food and beverage market 1o sell products containing our DHA oils for cognitive function, cardiovascular health and other applications. In
addition, we have recently signed license and supply agreements with several major consumer food products companies that establish Martek. subject
to certain exceptions, as their exclusive supplier of DHA for certain minimum periods of time. We, along with our customers, are developing other
DHA delivery methods, including powders and emulsions, to facilitate further entry into the food and beverage market. Management believes that
over the next few years, the food and beverage and dietary supplements markets will continue to expand and could ultimately represent a larger

opportunity than infant formula.

Our sales of nutritional oils for products outside of infant formula or pregnancy and nursing uses were $7.6 million., $5.4 million and $4.0 million in
fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

CONTRACT MANU FACTURING

We provide contract manufacturing services at our Kingstree, South Carolina production facility, We began offering these services following our
September 2003 acquisition of FermPro Manufacturing, LP, which had been providing third-party manufacturing services since the mid-1960's.
During this time period, the Kingstree personnel have developed an expertise in large-scale fermentation with many different microorganisms,
including algae, bacteria, fungi and yeast.

Martek's Kingstree plant has approximately 500,000 liters of fermentation capacity designated for use in contract manufacturing with additional
fermentation capacity available as required. Kingstree also has numerous types of recovery equipment which allow us to efficiently customize
production processes and state-of-the-art microbiological and analytical laboratories which provide highly automated product testing capabilities.

Our facilities are especially well-suited for the contracted production of enzymes, specialty chemicals, vitamins, agricultural specialties and
intermediates.

Our contract manufacturing customers have ranged from relatively small specialty chemical companies without in-house production capabilities to

very large, multinational pharmaceutical companies who require or prefer a distinct site for the manufacture of a particular product line.

Our contract manufacturing revenues were $14.8 million, $14.1 million and 3! 3.9 million for the fiscal years ended October 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004,
respectively.




MARTEK DETECTION PRODUCTS

We have identified, iselated and now sell powerful fluorescent dyes from various microalgae for use in drug discovery and diagnostic life science
applications. Our fluorescence technology is a sensitive and direct method for detection of a specific binding event. The main advantages of
flucrescence as a method of detection is that it is direct, fast, and relatively simple in that it does not require enzymatic steps for signal amplification
or prolonged development times for signal measurement. Qur fluorescent detection products include various fluorescent dyes used in protein
detection, flow cytometry and high throughput screening. Our sales of advanced detection system products were less than 31 million in each of the
last three years.

TECHNOLOGY

Martek discovers and develops proprietary products to improve human health and wellness. We leverage our knowledge of microalgae and other
microorganisms and expertise in fermentation sciences and natural product isolation 1o develop commercially attractive, proprietary and
environmentally sustainable sources of nutrients which have proven or emerging health benefits. These processes and use of the products derived
from these processes form the basis of our intellectual property estate. Product development involves four major steps: discovery, process
development and product formulation, product safety and efficacy evaluation, and scale-up and commercial production.

Discavery ~ Having identified an appropriate nutritional product target, Martek screens its large database of live and preserved, genetically diverse
microalgal species to identify candidate microalgal producers. Martek’s culture collection consists of microalgal strains which have been isolated
from nature by Martek's scientists and those which have been obtained from both public and private culture collections. Martek’s culture collection
also includes non-microalgal microbial species, which we believe may be increasingly important in the development of future products. Martek’s
microorganisms have a range of physiological and biochemical characteristics which naturally produce many different lipids, carbohydrates and
proteins. Promising candidates are further developed and screened for their ability to meet desired product requirements within the desired cost
structure.

Process Development and Product Formulation — Commercial processes for production of candidate products are developed through application of
sound scientific and engineering principles by Martek's scientists and engineers. Martek's processes consist of several basic steps including
microbial culture inoculum germination and expansion, fermentation, and product isolation and purification, Martek’s scientists utilize a broad range
of technical skills and state-of-the-art equipment of progressively larger scale to develop reproducible and economical processes. We apply standard
industrial microbiological techniques to microorganisms, including classical strain development and culturing condition (growth medjum
composition, temperature, pH) manipulation to optimize product yield and productivity. Martek's expertise in oil processing is broadly applicable to
a number of nutrients which are lipid soluble. Finally, Manek develops suitable liquid and dry powder product forms to enable our customers to
utilize our products in a broad range of desired consumer products. Martek’s has invested in extensive lab-scale and large pilot-scale fermentation
and product recovery equipment to enable efficient and cost-effective product development and support on-going product cost reduction efforts.

While we do not utilize genetically-engineered microorganisms in the production of current commercial products, we may use genetic engineering
technology for the production of future products at lower-cost or with improved functionatity. For example, Martek successfully isolated the genes
responsible for producing DHA in one commercial strain of microalgae, and is researching the use of these genes 1o produce low-cost seed oil DHA
and LCPUFA products in transgenic terrestrial oilseed crops.

Product Sufety and Efficacy Evaluation — In the course of product development, products undergo thorough safety testing and evaluation to assure our
ability to reproducibly produce products which are safe and compliant with worldwide regulatory requirements. All commercial products are
produced utilizing Good Manufacturing Practices (“GMP"} conditions appropriate for the intended food and beverage, supplement, or
pharmaceutical market. The health benefits or efficacy of Martek's products are tested and demonstrated utilizing appropriate preclinical animal
models and human clinical studies. These studies are conducted by Martek, academic researchers and/or corporate partners affiliated with Martek.
Martek is expanding its preclinical and clinical research capabilities in brain development, cognitive function and immune system health while
continuing research in eye development, eye health and cardiovascular benefits. Results from these studies are used o establish and support product
claims for market development.

Scale-up and Commercial Production. Successful exploitation of the unique characteristics of microalgae is in large measure dependent upon the
availability of large-scale culturing technology. We have successfully scaled-up several strains of microalgae capable of producing large amounts of
DHA heterotrophicaliy using common organic nutrients and salts. Heterotrophic culturing of these DHA-producing microzlgae at commercially
viable levels enables significantly lower production costs to be achieved, which were not possible prior to our achievements.

Aspects of our technology for the heterotrophic growth of DHA-producing micrealgae are the subject of many U.S. and international patents and
patent applications. Martek employs a systematic process to identify, develop, prosecute and defend commercially-valuable intellectual property.

COLLABORATIVE AND LICENSING AGREEMENTS

We have entered inlo license agreements with 24 infant formula manufacturers, who collectively represent approximately 70% of the worldwide
wholesaie market for infant formula. Our licensees include infant formula market leaders Mead Johnson Nutritionals, Nestle, Abbott Laboratories,
Wyeth and Royal Numico, each of whom is selling infant formula fortified with our nutritional oils, Under all of these agreements, we received
up-front license fees and will receive either i) a flat rate price per kilogram upon the sale of our oils to our licensees, or ii) a transfer price on sales of
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our oils to our licensees plus ongoing royalties based on our licensees' sales of infant formula products containing our oils. The most significant
license agreements have remaining terms ranging from approximately 15 to 25 years, contain no future funding commitments on our part or that of
our licensees, and, generally, may be rerminated by our licensees upon proper notification, which , in certain cases, are short periods. In many license
agreements, our licensees have the right to buy other sources of DHA and/ or ARA oils; however, if done so, the licensees must either make royalty
payments o us upon the sale of the final infant formula product that contains the oils putchased from another source or pay us greater amounts, on a
per unit basis, for the DHA or ARA that they purchase from us.

In May 2006, we entered into 2 long-term supply agreement with Mead Johnson Nutritionals, a leading worldwide infant formula producer and the
largest infant formula manufacturer in the United States. Under the agreement, Martek will serve as the exclusive worldwide DHA and ARA supplier
for all Mead Johnson infant formula products. The agreement provides for a ten-year term with certain rights for either party to terminate the
arrangement after December 31, 2011, Martek has been supplying DHA and ARA to Mead Johnson for use in infant formula under a 25-year license
agreement signed in 1992, which has been incorporated into the new agreement and remains in effect.

Under the terms of the licensing agreements, our licensees are responsible for obtaining all necessary regulatory approvals with respect to the use of
\hese nutritional oils in infant formula products. Under each of our current license agreements, our licensees generally are obligated to indemnify us
against product liability claims relating to our nutritional oils unless our nutritional oils do not meet agreed-upon specifications.

Under the terms of several of our license agreements, We are prohibited from granting a license to any party for the inclusion of our nutritional oils iIn
infant fermula with payment terms or royalty rates that are mofe favorable to such licensee than those provided in our agreements with our current

licensees without either the prier written consent of the current licensees ot prospectively offering such new favorable terms to these licensees. This
restriction does not apply to any lump sum payments to us pursuant 1o a territorially restricted license under which the reduced payment is reasonably

related to the reduced marketing opportunities available under such a restricted license.

We have provided an exclusive license to Advanced BioNutrition Corp. ("ABN"), a start-up company founded by a former officer of Martek, to sell
certain ARA byproducts as aquaculture feed. This license and supply agreement has a term of three years and requires ABN to purchase all such ARA
byproducts produced by us, up toa certain maximum. In addition, in August 2004, we granted ABN an exclusive license in the aquaculture field and
non-exclusive license in the animal nutrition field for the sale of DHA. This agreement also has a term of three years and provides for certain
minimum inventory purchases from Martek. We recognized revenues of approximately 1.0 million, $800,000 and $600,00¢ in fiscal 2006, 2005 and
2004, respectively, from sales of products to ABN.

In fiscal 2005 and 2006, the Company entered into several license and supply agrecments permitting the use of life'sDHA™ in various foods and
beverages. Among other things, these 15-year agreements establish Martek, subject to certain exceptions, as the licensees' exclusive provider of DHA

for certain minimum periods of time. There are no minimum purchase requirements or other financial commitments to Martek under these
agreements.

In fiscal 2004, we entered into an agreement with DSM Food Specialties' B.V. ("DSM") extending the existing relationship between the two
companies involving the production and supply of ARA, on¢ of out nutritional oils that we sell to our infant formula licensees. Among other things,
this agreement provides for the grant to Martek by DSM of a license related to certain technotogies associated with the manufacture of ARA. This
grant involved a license fee totaling $10 million, which is being amortized over the 15-year term of the agreement using the straight-line method. The
agreement with DSM also provides for the granting to DSM by us of an exclusive license under certain of our patents and intellectual property rights
for the production by DSM of products containing ARA that are not for human consumption, including animal feed products. In addition, we and
DSM have agreed to contribute our complementary resources to cooperative marketing and joint research and development efforts to expand the
applications and fields of use for ARA, with both parties sharing any economic benefits of such efforts.

In December 2003, we entered into a collaboration agreement with a Canadian biotechnology company to co-develop DHA products from plants.
This arrangement included the reimbursement of expenses incurred by the co-collaborator as well as the payment by us of potential royalties and
additional milestone payment amounts if certain scientific results were achieved in the future. In January 2007, an amendment to this agreement was
executed. Pursuant to the amendment, the co-collaborator will continue its research and development until June 2007, with expenses to be reimbursed
by us through April 2007. Furthermore, we acquired exclusive license rights to the plant-based DHA technology developed by the co-collaborator for
a period of at least 16 years. As consideration for this exclusive license, we will make a license payment of $750,000, with additional payments of up
to $750,000 due in certain circumstances, subject to minimum royalties of 1.5% of gross margin, as defined, if we ultimately commercialize a
plant-based DHA using any technology. During the term of the license, we may be required to pay additiona! royalties of up to 6.0% of gross margin,
as defined, on sales of products in the future which utilize certain licensed technologies. At the amendment date, the respective milestones provided
for in the original agreement had not been achieved, and no milestone payments specified in the original agreement have been or will be made.

We have also entered into various additional collaborative research and license agreements. Under these agreements, we are required to fund research
or to collaborate on the development of potential products. As of October 31, 2006, we were not committed to fund any future development activities
under these arrangements. Certain of these agreements also commit us to make payments upon the occurrence of certain milestones and pay royalties
upon the sale of certain products resulung from such collaborations.

PRODUCTION

We manufacture oils rich in DHA at our fermentation and oil processing facilities located in Winchester, Kentucky, and Kingstree, South Carolina.
We acquired the Winchester facility in 1995 and the Kingstree facility in 2003 through the acquisition of FermPro Manufacturing, LP. In 2005, we
completed the extensive expansion at our Kingstree facility for the fermentation and processing of our nutritional oils and now have two fully
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redundant production facilities. The oils that we produce in these facilities are certified kosher by the Orthodox Union and are certified Halal by the
Islamic Food and Nutrition Council of America. In addition, both manufacturing facilities have received a rating of "superior," the highest possible
rating, by the American Institute of Baking ("AIB"). 1n October 2006, we restructured our plant operations following a review of the Company's
current production and cost structure. Under the restructuring, a substantial portion of production formerly taking place in Winchester was transferred
to Kingstree. The restructuring s expected to reduce manufacturing costs and operating expenses, starting in the first quarter of fiscal 2007, due to
improved manufacturing efficiency and a reduction in our workforce at the Winchester site. We will maintain the essential redundancy of dual-plant
manufacturing capacity in order to mitigate production risk and to meet future customer demand. We believe that we can bring the Winchester assets
back to full production in a matter of months as required by customer demand.

Qur ARA oils are purchased from DSM as manufactured at its Capua, Italy and Belvidere, New Jersey plants. In fiscal 2006, we received
approximately one-half of our ARA from each of DSM’s facilities. Because DSM is a third-party manufacturer, we have only limited control over the
timing and level of its Capua and Belvidere production volumes.

In February 2006, we and DSM entered into an amendment to the original agreement (“the Amendment”). The Amendment served to provide certain
clarifying and updating language to the original agreement and to establish the overall economics associated with DSM's expansion at both its
Belvidere, New Jersey and Capua, ltaly production facilities. We guaranteed the recovery of certain costs incurred by DSM in connection with these
cxpansions, up to $40 million, with such amount being reduced annually through December 31, 2008 (the "Recoupment Period”) based upon ARA
purchases by us in excess of specified minimum thresholds. As of October 31, 2006, the guarantee amount has been reduced to approximately $25.0
million. The guarantee amount payable. if any, at the end of the Recoupment Period, must be paid by January 31, 2009. The amount paid, if any, will
be credited against a portion of DSM invoices for purchases made afier the Recoupment Period. Annual ARA unit pricing under the agreement with
DSM utilizes a cost-plus approach that is based on the prior year's actual costs incurred adjusted for current year volume and cost expectations.
Calendar 2006 ARA purchases have been valued by us based on amounts and unit prices invoiced by DSM. Certain issues, however, still need to be
resolved in order to finalize 2006 ARA pricing. Absent a favorable resolution to us, our recorded cost of ARA will approximate, in all material
respects, the agreed-upon amounts when negotiations with DSM are complete.

We have attempted to reduce the risk inherent in having a single supplier, such as DSM, through certain elements of our supply agreement with DSM.
In connection with this agreement, we have the ability to produce, either directly or through a third party, an unlimited amount of ARA. The sale of
such self-produced ARA is limited annually, however, to the greater of (i) 100 tons of ARA oil or (ii) any amounts ordered by us that DSM is unable
1o fulfill. We have demonstrated the ability to produce limited amounts of ARA in our plants. To further improve our overall ARA supply chain, we
have directly engaged a U.S -based provider of certain post-fermentation ARA manufacturing services. Along with our ARA downstream processing
capabilities at Kingstree and Winchester, this third-party facility provides us with multiple U.S. sites for the full downstream processing of ARA.

When combining our current DHA production capabilities in Winchester and Kingstree with DSM’s current ARA production capabilities in Italy and
the U.S.. we have production capacity for DHA and ARA products in excess of $500 million in annualized sales to the infant formula, perinatal, food
and beverage and dietary supplement markets. As such, our production capabilities exceed current demand; however, we have the ability to manage
production levels and, to a certain extent, control our manufacturing costs. Nonetheless, when experiencing excess capacity, we may be unable to
produce the required quantities of oil cost-effectively due to the existence of significant levels of fixed production costs at our plants and the plants of
our suppliers.

The commercial success of our nutritional eils will depend, in part, on our ability to manufacture these oils or have them manufactured at large scale
on a continuous basis and at a commercially acceptable cost. Qur success wiil also be somewhat dependent on our ability to align our production with
customer demand. There can also be no assurance that we will be able to successfully optimize production of our nutritional eils, or continue to
comply with applicable regulatory requirernents, including GMP requirements. Under the terms of several of our infant formula licenses, those
licensees may elect to manufacture these oils themselves. We are currently unaware of any of our licensees producing our oils or preparing to produce
our oils, and estimate that it would take a licensee a minimum of one year to implement a process for making our oils.

SOURCES OF SUPPLY

Our raw material suppliers for production of DHA oil include major chemical companies and food and beverage ingredient suppliers. We have
identified and validated multiple sources for each of our major ingredients and do not anticipate that the lack of availability of raw materials will cause
future production shortages.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

The primary focus of our research and development activities has been the development and optimization of manufacturing processes for our
nutritional cils and the development of more economical and stable DHA products for the food and beverage market. We perform research and
development at our Columbia, Maryland and Bouider, Colorado facilities as well as at our Winchester, Kentucky production plant. Our research and
development expenditures in fiscal 2006 were mainly associated with development activity at the Columbia, Maryland lab directed toward improving
the quality, sensory properties and stability of our nutritional oils, optimizing production characteristics of microalgal strains, investigating the
clinical health benefits of DHA and ARA fatty acids, and exploring the biochemical pathways utilized by microalgae to produce DHA. Additional
research and development expenses incurred at our Winchester facility were directed towards increasing our DHA production yields, improving our

ability to ferment ARA. reducing waste and continuing to improve the overall quality of our oils. Research conducted at our lab in Boulder, Colorado
is focused on developing feasible approaches to the expression of nutritional fatty acids, especially DHA., in plant cilseeds in connection with a
Canadian-based collaborator, investigating the feasibility of utilizing our proprietary genes to produce other bioactive compounds with application in
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the health and weliness fields and developing new ingredient forms and applications technology for DHA-enriched food and beverage products. We
incurred total research and development expense of approximately $24.8 million, $20.5 million and $18.6 million in fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004,
respectively.

SALES AND MARKETING

Our nutritional oils are marketed and sold primarily to the infant formula, dietary supplement and food and beverage industries. Infant formula
manufacturers are required to purchase a license from us in order to use our DHA and ARA oils in infant formula. To date, we have entered into
license agreements with 24 infant formula manufacturers who represent approximately 70% of the world's wholesale infant formuia market. QOur
licensees include infant formula market leaders Mecad Johnson Nutritionals, Nestle, Abbott Laboratories, Wyeth and Royal Numico, each of whom is
selling infant formula fortified with our nutritional oils. Dueto the success of the fortified infant formula products, several of our licensees have also
begun selling extension products beyond infant formula, which contain our oils and are targeted to children ages nine months to twe years of age. In
addition. Mead Johnson Nutritionals is selling a product in the United States, Expecta™LIP1L®, which contains our DHA oil and targets pregnant
and nursing women. Sciele Pharma, Inc. is selling a prescription prenatal supplement OptiNate™ containing life 'sDHA™; Mission Pharmacal is
selling a prescription prenatal supplement Citracal® Prenatal + DHA containing life 'sDHA™; Vincent Foods, LLC is selling Oh Mama! nutrition
bars containing life sDHA™; and NutraBella is selling Bellybar™ nutrition bars containing fife sDHA™, all of which target pregnant and nursing
women.

Life'sDHA™ is sold as an ingredient to supplement manufacturers. Neuromins® is a Martek supplement brand which contains fife'sDHA™. The
Neuromins® brand is sold directly by Martek as well as distributed and sold under license by several leading supplement manufacturers and can be
found nationwide. We are currently marketing food and beverage and animal feed applications to both 1J.S. and international companies. The
following food and beverage products currently contain life'sDHA™ and are co-branded with the /ife'sDHA™ logo:

o  Several egg producers, including Gold Circle Farms®, are producing cggs and liquid eggs using life'sDHA™. These eggs are sold in
several grocery store chains in the U.S. and Europe.

e  Priégola is selling Simbi + Omega-3 yogurt with life "« DHA™. which is now available in major supermarket chains throughout Spain and is
being marketed to children and adults for its brain heaith benefits.

e  Odwalla, Inc. is selling Odwalla Soymilk and the Soy Smart™ Chai Soymilk drink, both of which feature /ife 'sDHA™, in the us.

«  Dynamic Confections recently re-formulated the Botticelli Choco-Omeg® line of nutritional bars to include fife'sDHA™. The bars are
available at Canadian retailers.

e  Flora, Inc. recently launched Udo's Choice® DHA Qil Blend, a flaxseed oil blend, containing life'sDHA™. Flora's Udo's Choice brand is a
line of vegetarian, organic and sustainable health oils.

e ltalian dairy company Latteria Merano/Milchhof Meran recently \aunched Mente Viva™ fortified drinkable yogurt with fife'sDHA™.
This product is available in supermarkets throughout Italy.

e ltalian company Centrale Del Latte Di Brescia launched Sprintissimo™ fortified drinkable yogurt with life'sDHA™. This product is
available in supermarkets throughout ltaly.

e Life Science Nutritionals recently jaunched Nutri-Kids Nutrition-t0-Go™ including life'sDHA™. This ready-to-drink milk product is
available at select grocery and nutrition retailers in the U.S. and Canada.

e  General Mills has introduced Yoplait Kids® featuring life'sDHA™. This yogurt product will be available at U.S. retailers nationwide in
mid-February 2007

We are aggressively pursuing further penetration of our DHA oils in the food and beverage market. We are in discussions with several companies in
the nutritional and food and beverage markets to se!l products containing our DHA oils for cognitive function, cardiovascular health and other
applications. In addition, we have recently signed license and supply agreements with several major consumer food products companies that establish
Martek. subject to certain exceptions, as their exclusive supplier of DHA for certain minimum periods of time. We, along with our customers, are
developing other DHA delivery methods, including powders and emulsions, to facilitate further entry into the food and beverage market.
Management believes that over the next few years, the food and beverage and dietary supplements markets will continue to expand and could
ultimately represent a larger opportunity than infant formula.

Consumer marketing efforts are performed primarily by our customers although we play a supportive role. Qur infant formula licensees market their
DHA and ARA supplemented formulas directly to consumers and healthcare professionals. Our dietary supplement and food and beverage customers
also create and implement their own advertising campaigns. We support ihese efforts through trade show participation and targeted direct mail
campaigns as well as limited advertising and public relations campaigns.

In September 2006, we introduced a new brand name and logo and a new corporate logo and tagline, The purpose of this branding initiative is to
support corporate partners in anticipation of product launches by accentuating Martek's positive public image and increasing public awareness. Our
flagship product is now called /ife'sDHA™ and includes the taghine "Healthy brain, eyes, heart” which is designed to be consumer friendly and to
communicate the importance of DHA for health throughout life.

Our line of flucrcscent detection products is designed foruse ina wide range of drug discovery and research applications. These products are
marketed to large pharmaceutical research institutions through distributors. such as PerkinElmer Life Sciences Products, Beckman Coulter and EMD
Biosciences, who have entered into distribution agreements with us. Our distributors perform most of the marketing surrounding this product line.
Recently, we have developed additional product extensions on currently distributed products. We also sell directly to the consumer through our
websile,




COMPETITION

The healthcare and biclogical sciences industries are characterized by rapidly evolving technology and intense competition. Qur competitors include
major pharmaceutical, chemical, specialized biotechnology and food and beverage companies, many of whom have financial, technical and
marketing resources significantly greater than ours. In addition, many specialized biotechnology companies have formed collaborations with large,
established companies to support research, development and commercialization of products and technologies that may be competitive with our
products and technologies. Academic institutions, governmental agencies and other public and private research organizations are also conducting
research and development activities that may be competitive with our products. These organizations are seeking patent protection and may
commercialize products and technologies on their own or through jeint ventures that are competitive with our products and technologies. The
existence of products and technologies of which we are not aware, or those that may be developed in the future, may adversely affect the marketability
of the products and technologies that we have developed.

Fish oil-based products currently dominate the adult DHA supptement market and certain foods containing fish oils are on the market in various parts
of the world. DHA-containing fish oil for infant formula applications provides an allernative to our DHA nutritional oil and is used by certain of our
licensees and other infant formula manufacturers outside the United States. In addition, in April 2006, the FDA notified the Ross Products Division of
Abbott Laboratories that it had no questions at that time regarding Ross' conclusion that DHA-rich oil from tuna and ARA-rich oil from Mortierella
Alpina are safe as sources of DHA and ARA in term and post-discharge preterm infant formulas.  While Ross Products has not announced any
introduction of its oils into infant formula in the U.S. nor are we aware of any plans by them or any of our other licensees to do so, the GRAS
notification removes a significant regulatory hurdle to the introduction of competitive products in the U.S. Fish oil is generally less costly than our
DHA oil, and therefore presents a substantial competitive threat 1o our DHA product line. Although fish oil is generally a lower cost product relative
to our DHA, it has odor, stability and taste characteristics that may limit its usefulness in food and beverage products. Several large companies,
including BASF AG, DSM and Ocean Nutrition, and a number of smaller companies, manufacture microencapsulated fish oil products.  Although
microencapsulation of the oil resolves many of the odor, stability and taste issues found with fish oil, a microencapsulated preduct currently is more
costly than regular fish cil. Because fish oil is generally less costly than our DHA oil and continues to improve in quality and gain general market
acceptance, fish oil presents a substantial competitive threat,

Through our research efforts, we have developed and launched a new Jife sDHA™ product with enhanced food and beverage formulation capabilities
through better stability. We have also continued to refine our manufacturing processes in order to preduce high levels of DHA and thereby reducing
our DHA unit costs. These improvements and changes make our DHA more cost competitive with certain microencapsulated fish oils, on a price per
DHA unit basis, but not on a total omega-3 basis.

Published reports have cited a number of fish oils as containing chemical toxins not present in our oils. In addition, we believe the combination of
either fish oil or microencapsulated low- EPA fish oil with a microbial source of ARA for use in infant formula would likely infringe upen our patent
position in several countries.

Reliant Pharmaceuticals is currently selling Omacor, a DHA/ EPA ethyl ester for treatment of hyperlipidemia. Omacor is a lipid-regulating agent
which includes both EPA and DHA from fish oil. Reliant Pharmaceuticals has recently filed an application with the FDA for an indication that will
expand the use of Omacer. Other pharmaceutical applications using omega-3 fatty acids may be expected.

We believe that our nutritional oils have the following advantages over fish oil and other currently available sources of DHA and ARA for use in
infant formula, as food and beverage ingredients, or as dietary supplements:

*  our oils do not have the odor, stability, taste characteristics, or impurities that may limit the usefulness of DHA derived from
unencapsulated fish oil;

e our oils can be blended in a variety of mixtures in precise ratios for specific applications, whereas the composition of (ish oils may vary;

+ each of our oils used in infant formula is comprised of a fatty acid blend that does not contain certain other fatty acids in significant
quantities such as eicosapentaenoic acid (“EPA”™), which may not be appropriate for consumption by infants.

*  our oils do not contain substances found in certain fish oils such as methylmercury, polychlorinated biphenyls ("PCBs"), dioxins and other
toxic ¢contaminants;

e our oils have a higher oxidative stability and longer shelf life than fish oil and are, therefore, more amenable to the spray drying process
required for powdered formula,

*  our oils are not produced from animal sources and, therefore, should be more desirable for use in food and beverage products requiring
vegetable-sourced DHA;

*  our oils are produced from renewable, sustainable natural resources, unlike fish oil;

e our DHA and ARA-enriched oils are in an easily digestible triglyceride form similar to that found in breast milk, but different from the
phospholipid form found in egg yolk lipids; and

+  our oils can be produced in large quantities under controlled conditions satisfying strict regulatory scrutiny.
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At this time. our oils are the only DHA and ARA oils used in infant formula in the U.S.

Suntory Limited, Cargill Inc., through a joint venture with a company in China, and other independent Chinese manufacturers are producing and
distributing a fungal source of ARA. In addition, we are aware that there may be manufacturers in China attempting Lo produce an algal source of
DHA. but we are uncertain of the overall status and commercial potential of these development efforts. Other companies, several with greater

financial resources than ours, are developing plant-based DHA and other companies are developing chemically synthesized DHA.

Small amounts of DHA and ARA can be derived from egg yolk lipids, but DHA and ARA of this type are not in the same molecular form as that
predominantly found in breast milk (i.e., phospholipid vs. rriglyceride). DHA and ARA derived from egg yolks are curtently being added to some
brands of infant formula marketed by Roya! Numico and several smaller companies. We believe that the processes to produce DHA and ARA from
egg lipids are more costly than the processes that we use for producing DHA and ARA from microbial sources. Furthermore, the addition of DHA
and ARA from egg yolks at levels equivalent to those found in human breast milk may result in dietary levels of lecithin and cholesterol in excess of
those found in human breast milk.

in December 2005, Lonza Group LTD, a Swiss chemical and biotechnology group, acquired from Nutrinova Specialties & Food Ingredients GmbH,
a wholly-owned subsidiary of Celanese Corporation, Nutrinova’s business having as its product a DHA-rich microalgal oil. Since the acquisition,
Lonza has actively marketed its DHA oil to the food and beverage and dictary supplement markets in the United States, Europe and China. Both
Nutrinova and Lonza are defendants in patent infringement actions involving our DHA patents that we have brought in both the United States and
Germany. In October 2006, the infringement action in the United States was tried, and a verdict favorable to Martek was returned. The jury found
that Lonza infringed all the asserted claims of three Martek patents and that these patents were valid. It also found that Lonza acted willfully in its
infringement of one of these patents. The judge will now determine if any of the jury’s decisions were inappropriate as a matter of law, whether
Martek is entitled to a permanent injunction against Lonza, and. if so, whether the permanent injunction should be stayed pending the outcome of any
appeal. These lawsuits are further described in ltem 3 of Part 1 of our Form 10-K for the year ended October 31, 2006.

There may be other competitive sources of DHA and ARA of which we are nol aware. The fact that many of the companies mentioned above are
larger, more experienced and better capitalized than Martek raises the significant risk that these companies may be able to use their resources to
develop less costly sources of DHA and ARA than our current technology permits.

Our competitive position will also depend on our ability to attract and retain qualified scientific and other personnel, develop effective proprietary
products, implement production and marketing plans, obtain patent protection and secure adequate capital resources.

PATENTS, LICENSES AND PROPRIETARY TECHNOLOGY

We have received nunerous patents protecting our nutritional products technology, including the fermentation methods of producing our DHA and
ARA oils, as well as the blending and use of DHA and/ or ARA oils in infant formula. In 1994, we received a U.S. patent covering certain blends of
a microbial oil enriched with DHA and a microbial oil enriched with ARA, as well as the use of such blends in infant formulas. In 1995, we received
a U.S. patent covering a process for making an edible oil containing DHA and the edible oil made by such process as well as 2 U.S. patent covering an
infant formula comprising a specified edible oil containing DHA. In 1996, we received two additional U.S. patents covering our nutritional oils
technology. The first patent protects pharmaceutical compesitions and dietary supplements comprising a single cell oil in concentrations of at least
20% DHA in a trigiyceride form made using our method of producing DHA oil. The second patent clarifies that our patent coverage includes the
blending, in infant formula and dietary supplements, of microbially derived ARA oil with low EPA fish oils. Fish oil is a potential competitive source
of DHA to Martek's algal-derived DHA oil. This patent makes it more difficult for low EPA fish oils to be combined with microbial sources of ARA
oils in the U.S. without vielating our patents. A U.S. patent was granted in 1997, which protects the production, use and sale of oils rich in ARA (30%
or greater concentration). In 1998, a U.S. patent was issued protecting our DHA-rich algal biomass. DHA-rich algal biomass is the raw product of the
DHA fermentation process and represents an inexpensive source of DHA that may potentially be a low cost product itself. We also have been awarded
a number of foreign patents covering various aspects of our nutritional oils. including European patents covering our DHA and ARA-rich oils, as well
as the blending of these oils for use in infant formula.

We also own patents and applications that cover algae fermentation processes, lipid extraction/purification, genomic-based approaches Lo lipid
production, arachidonic acid production and use, animal feeding protocols, and food and beverage applications for PUFAs, as a resubt of the
OmegaTech purchase in 2002. From 1992 to 2006, cight U.S. patents were issued to us covering the use of algae in the production of omega-3
PUFAs (c.g. DHA-S), and the use of such PUFAs in such products as human foods and beverages, animal feed, aquaculture and the resulting fortified
meat, seafood, milk and eggs. Additional patent applications directed to this technology are still pending. From 1994 to 2006, eleven U.S. patents
were issucd covering the fermentation of microotganisms in low chloride fermentation medium. Small microorganisms, the use of such
microorganisms in aguaculture, and the resulting products are also claimed. Additional patent applications covering this technology are still pending,
From 1996 to 2004, six U.S. patents were issued covering the use and production of ARA using a variety of fungi. Additional patent applications
covering this technology are still pending. Other U.S. patents have been issued and a number of patents are pending worldwide.

We are the exclusive licensee of two U.S. patents and numerous foreign patents and applications covering production, sale and use of our
SensiLight™ fluorescent pigments.

Our success is dependent in part on our ability to obtain and maintain patent protection for our products, maintain wrade secret protection and opetate
without infringing the proprietary rights of others. Our policy is to aggressively protect our proprietary technology through patents, where appropriate,
and in other cases, through trade secrets. Additionally, in certain cases, we rely on the licenses of patents and technology of third parties. We hold
approximately 69 U.S. patents, covering various aspects of our technology, which will expire on various dates between 2007 and 2023. Qur core
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infant formula-related U.S. patents expire between 2011 and 2014, We have filed, and intend to file, applications for additional patents covering both
our products and processes as appropriate. Currently, we have over 600 issued patents and pending applications worldwide. There can be no
assurance that:

+ any patent applications filed by, assigned to or licensed to us will be granted;

*  we will develop additional products that are patentable;

¢ any patents issued to or licensed by us will provide us with any competitive advantages or adequate protection for inventions;

+  any patents issued to or licensed by us will not be challenged, invalidated or circumvented by others; or

s issued patents, or patents that may be issued, will provide protection against competitive products or otherwise be commercially valuable.

Furthermore, patent law relating to the scope of claims in the fields of healthcare and biosciences is still evolving, and cur patent rights are subject to
this uncertainty. Qur patent rights on our products therefore might conflict with the patent rights of athers, whether existing now or in the future.
Alternatively, the products of others could infringe our patent rights. The defense and prosecution of patent claims are both costly and time consurning,
¢ven if the outcome is ultimately in our favor. An adverse outcome could subject us to significant liabilities 1o third parties, require disputed rights to
be licensed from third parties or require us to cease selling the affected products.

It is our corporate pelicy to vigorously protect our substantial investment in the research and development of our products and to continue to enforce
our patent and other intellectual property rights against third parties who engage in the unauthorized manufacture, sale, or use of our technology.

We currently have several challenges to our European patents covering our DHA oils, ARA oils and DHA and ARA blended oils and these challenges
as well as our lawsuit against others for infringement of our patents are described in Item 3 of Part  of cur Form 10-K for the year ended October 31,
2006. Total patent litigation costs were approximately $7.4 million in fiscal 2006, of which approximately $6.7 million related to our successful
patent infringement litigation against Lonza and Nutrinova.

We expect that, in the future, as our nutritional oils continue to be commercialized, opposition to our intellectual property by our competitors will
continue and most likely increase. We believe that additional challenges to our suite of U.S. patents may arise in the future, We will likely incur
substantial costs in the future protecting and defending our patent and other intellectual property rights.

If we fail to maintain patent protection for our nutritional oils or our patents expire, it would have a material adverse effect on our ability to gain a
competitive advantage for these oils and may have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, particularly future sales of our nutritional oils
and future license fees related to sales of infant formula containing these oils. In particular, if we fail to maintain patent protection, it would permit our
competitors to produce products that would be directly competitive with our nutritional oils using similar or identical processes, and it is possible that
our current infant formula manufacturers under license or those which may be under license in the future may choose formula ingredients from these
competitors if they choose to include the ingredients in their formulas at all.

We also rely on trade secrets and proprietary know-how, which we seek to protect in part by confidentiality agreements with our collaborators,
employees and consultants. There can be no assurance that these agreements will not be breached, that we will have adequate remedies for any such
breach or that our trade secrets will not otherwise become known or be independently developed by competitors.

GOVERNMENT REGULATION AND PRODUCT TESTING

Our products and our manufacturing and research activities are subject to varying degrees of regulation by state and federal regulatory authorities in
the United States, including the FDA pursuant to the Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act (the "FDC Act"). The products developed by us are
subject to potential regulation by the FDA as food and beverage ingredients, dietary supplements, drugs and/or medical devices. The regulatory status
of any product is largely determined by its intended use.

Drugs and medical devices generally may not be marketed without first obtaining FDA authorization to do so. New infant formulas also are subject to
premarket notification requirements. Although there are no premarket authorization requirements for whole foods per se, there are premarket
approval requirements for food and beverage additives. Specifically exempt from the food additive definition and, therefore, the premarket approval
requirements, are generally recognized as safe food and beverage ingredients. Dietary supplements for the most part are not subject to premarket
authorization requirements, although there is a premarket notification requirement for certain new dietary ingredients that were not marketed as
dietary supplements prior to October [994. The FDA has established detailed GMP, labeling and other requirements for drugs, medical devices,
infant formulas, foods and beverages and dietary supplements. The requirements for drugs, medical devices and infant formulas generally are much
meore stringent than the requirements for foods and beverages and dietary supplements,

Our infant formula licensees are responsible for obtaining the requisite regulatory clearances to market their products containing our oils. Sales of our
products outside the United States are subject to foreign regulatory requirements that may vary widely from country to country.

In May 2001, the FDA completed a favorable review of our generally recognized as safe ("GRAS") notification for the use of our DHASCO® and
ARASCO® oil blend in specified ratios in infant formulas. Since the first product introduction in February 2002, supplemented infant formulas
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manufactured by four of our licensees, Mead Johnson Nutritionals, the Ross Products Division of Abbott Laboratories, Nestle and PBM Products Inc.,
have been sold in the United States. These supplemented infant formulas include term, preterm, soy-based. specialty and toddler products.

The FDA regulates the use and marketing of dietary supplements under the provisions of the Dietary Supplement Health and Education Act of 1994
("DSHEA"). We are currently selling several lines of DHA dietary supplements. In addition, we are researching and developing new applications for
our DHA and ARA oils. We believe that our DHA and ARA are not new dictary ingredients and, as such, are not subject to premarket notification

requirements when marketed for use as dietary supplements. There can be no assurance that the FDA would agree that a premarket notification is not

required or that we will be able to comply with the requirements of DSHEA or any regulations that the FDA may promulgate thereunder.

In June 2002, the Australia New Zealand Food Authority authorized the use of DHA-S oil for use as a Novel Food ingredient in Australia and New
Zealand. In June 2003, the European Commission authorized the use of our DHA-S oil as a Novel Food ingredient in certain foods in the European
Community. This Novel Food designation authorizes the use of our DHA-S as an ingredient in certain foods such as certain dairy products, including
cheese and yogurt {but not milk-based drinks), spreads and dressings, breakfast cereals, food supplements and dietary foods for special medical
purposes in the European Community. In February 2004, the FDA completed a favorable review of our GRAS notification for the use of DHA-S in
food and beverage applications.  In October 2006, Health Canada approved per serving levels of Martek's DHA of not less than eight mg and not
more than 100 mg of DHA when used as a food ingredient.

Our fluorescent detection and other products derived from microalgae are subject to potential regulation by FDA as either medical devices or as a
combination medical device/drug product to the extent that they are used in the diagnosis, mitigation, treatment, cure of prevention of diseases. Such
classification would subject the products to premarket clearances and/or regulatory approvals. There can be no assurances that we or our licensees or
collaborators would be able to develop the extensive safety and efficacy data needed 10 support such FDA premarket authorizations or that the FDA
ultimately would authorize the marketing of such products on a timely basis, if at all.

For potentia) pharmaceutical uses of products derived from microalgae, there can be no assurance that required clinical testing will be completed
successfully within any specified time period, if at all, with respect to our products. Additionally. there is no assurance that we or our licensees or
collaborators will be able to develop the extensive data needed to establish the safety and cfficacy of these products for approval for drug uses, or that
such drug products will not be subject to regulation as biological products or as controlled substances, which would affect marketing and other
requirements.

Some of our products are in research or development phases. We cannot predict all of the regulatory requirements or issues that may apply to or arise
in connection with our products. Changes in existing laws, regulations or policies and the adoption of new laws, regulations or policies could prevent
us or our licensees or collaborators from complying with such requirements.

Due to the cost and time commitment associated with the FDA regulatory process, we will decide on a product-by-product basis whether to handle
relevant clearance and other requirements independently or to assign such responsibilities to aur licensees of future collaborative partners. There can
be no assurance that we or our licensees of collaborators will be able 1o obtain such regulatory clearances, if required, on a timely basis or at all.
Delays in receipt of, or failure to receive, such clearances, the loss of previously received approvals or clearances, of failure to comply with existing
or future regulatory requirements would have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

In connection with the manufacture of certain of our products, we are required to adhere to applicable current GMP regulations as required by the
FDA. GMP regulations specify component and product testing standards, quality contro! and quality assurance requirements, and records and other
documentation conurols. The GMP requirements for foods and beverages, infant formulas, drugs and medical devices vary widely. As the
manufacturcr of DHA and ARA that are marketed as dietary supplements and used as food and beverage ingredients in infant formulas sold in the
United States, we are subject to GMP and various other requirements applicable to food and beverage ingredients and dietary supplements. There can
be no assurance that we will be able to continue to manutacture our nutritional oils in accordance with relevant food and beverage ingredient and
dietary supplement requirements for commercial use. Ongoing compliance with GMP and other applicable regulatory requirements is monitored
through periodic inspections by state and federal agencies, including the FDA and comparable agencies in other countries. A determination that we
are in violation of such GMP and other regulations could lead to the imposition of civil penalties, including fines, product recalls or product seizures,
and. in the most egregious cascs, criminal sanctions,

As large scale manufacturing facilities, our plants in Winchester, Kentucky and Kingstree, South Carolina are required to abide by applicable federal
and state environmental and safety laws, including regulations established by the Environmental Protection Agency (“U.S. EPA™) and the
Occupational Safety and Health Administration (“*OSHA™). In addition, our solvent extraction processes inciude the use of hexane, which is
extremely flammable and subject to emission requirements. Ongoing compliance with environmental and safety laws is monitored by periodic
inspections by the U.S. EPA and OSHA. If we fail to abide by these laws we could receive fines, or if the violations were serious enough, our
operations could be shut down until the problems are fixed, Such penalties could have a material adverse effect on our ability to manufacture our
nutritional oils, and our financial results could be negatively impacted. While the costs of our compliance with environmental laws and regulations
cannot be predicted with certainty, such costs are not expected o have a material adverse effect on our earnings or financial or competitive position.
See Item 3 of Part 1 of our Form 10-K for the year ended October 31, 2006 for further discussion.

The Federal Trade Commission (“FTC™) regulates certain aspects of the advertising and marketing of our products. Under the Federal Trade
Commission Act, a company must be able to substantiate both the express and implied claims that are conveyed by an advertisement, [t is not
uncommeon for the FTC to conduct an investigation of the claims that are made about products in new and emerging areas of science that involve a
potentially vulnerable population such as infants.




EMPLOYEES

As of October 31, 2006, we had 506 full-time employees, one of whom is an M.D. and 37 of whom have Ph.D.s. Approximately 119 employees are
engaged in research and development activities, 245 are engaged in praduction or production development related activities and 142 are in
administrative, business development and sales and marketing positions. We consider relations with our employees to be good. None of our
employees is covered by a collective bargaining agreement.




EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

Our executive officers are as follows:

Name Age Position
Steve Dubin 53 Chief Executive Officer and Director
David M. Abramson 53 President
Peter L. Buzy 47 Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer and Executive Vice President
for Finance and Administration
Bamey B. Easterling 61 Senior Vice President, Manufacturing
David M. Feitel 43 Senior Vice President and General Counsel
James H. Flau, Ph.D. 47 Senior Vice President, Research
Peter A. Nitze 48 Chief Operating Officer and Executive Vice President

Mr. Dubin became Chief Executive Officer of Martek on July 1, 2006 after serving since September 2003 as President of Martek. Mr. Dubin joined
Martek in 1992 and has served in various management positions, including CFO, Treasurer, Secretary, General Counsel and Senior Vice President of
Business Development. 1n 2000, he tmoved to a pant-time position of Senior Advisor - Business Development, a role he filled until his election to
President of Martek in September 2003, He also spent time during 2000 through 2003 co-founding and co-managing a Maryland-based,
angel-investing club that funds early-stage, high-potential businesses. He was also "Of Counsel” to {he law firm Mintz, Levin, Cohn, Ferris, Glovsky
and Popeo, P.C. during pan of 2001 and 2002. Prior to 1992, Mr. Dubin worked in the financing and management of early-stage businesses and, over
a period of 12 years, served in various positions at Suburban Bank, now part of Bank of America, including Vice President and Treasurer of their
venture capital subsidiary, Suburban Capital Corporation. Mr. Dubin received a B.S in accounting from the University of Maryland and a Juris
Doctor degree from the George Washington University. Mr. Dubin is a Certified Public Accountani and a member of the Maryland Bar. Mr. Dubin
has been a director of Martek since July 2006. His term expires in 2009.

Mr. Abramson joined Mantek in 2003 as head of Corporate Development and was elected President in September 2006. Prior to joining Martek, he
was the Executive Vice President and General Counsel for U.S. Foodservice from 1996 to 2003. In this position, Mr. Abramson oversaw the legal and
regulatory affairs of U.S. Foodservice, a large foodservice distributor in the United States, and advised on business development opportunities for this
company. U.S. Foodservice became a subsidiary of Royal Ahold in 2000. In addition, Mr. Abramson was also the Executive Vice President for
Lega! Affairs at Ahold, U.S.A. from 2000 to 2003. Mr. Abramson also served on the Board of Directors of U.S. Foodservice from 1994 to

2003. Prior to joining U.S. Foodservice, from 1983 until 1996, Mr. Abramson was a partner at Levan, Schimel, Belman & Abramson, P.A., now a
part of Miles & Stockbridge P.C. Mr. Abramson graduated from George Washington University in 1973, where he obtained a Bachelors of Business
Administration in accounting, He received his Juris Doctor degree, with honors, from the University of Maryland School of Law in 1978. Mr.
Abramson is a member of the Maryland Bar.

Mr. Buzy joined Martek in 1998 as Chief Financial Officer. Prior to joining Martek, Mr. Buzy spent 13 years with the accounting firm of Emst &
Young LLP. most recently as an audit partner in the Northern Virginia High Technology/Life Sciences Practice, Mr. Buzy is a Certified Public
Accountant and a member of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He received his B.S. in accounting from Salisbury University.

Mr. Easterling joined Martek in 2003 in connection with Martek's acquisition of FermPro Manufacturing, LP ("FermPro™). With the acquisition, he
was named Vice President of Manufacturing of Martek, and in March 2004, he was elected to the position of Senior Vice President of Manufacturing.
From 1994 10 2003, Mr. Easterling served as President and CEO of FermPro, a provider of contract fermentation services with a workforce of over
100 personnel. From 1980 to 1994, Mr. Easterling served in various management capacities for Gist-Brocades. He received a B.S. in premedicine
from Clemson University.

Mr. Feite! joined Martek in 2004 as Associate General Counsel and was elected to the position of Senior Vice President and General Counsel in
December 2006. From 2003 until joining Martek, he practiced law at Miles & Stockbridge P.C., where he had started his legal carecr in 1988. From
2000 10 2003, Mr. Feitel was the Vice President and General Counsel of BCE Emergis, an eCommerce service provider and a subsidiary of Bell
Canada. Prior to BCE Emergis, Mr. Feitel worked for the Discovery (iroup, a Columbus, Ohio-based venture capital company, from 1997 through
2000. Mr. Feitel received his undergraduate degree from Duke University and his Juris Doctor from the Duke University School of Law in 1988.

Dr. Flaut joined Martek in 2002 as Senior Vice President, Research and Development. Prior to joining Martek, Dr. Flatt was the Vice President of
Research and Development for OmegaTech, Inc., a DHA producer in Boulder. Colorado that was acquired by Martek in April 2002. In his position
with OmegaTech, Dr. Flatt managed all corporate research and development, including discovery, ingredient technology, food and analytical
sciences and process development. Prior to joining OmegaTech in 2000, Dr. Flatt held a position at Procter & Gamble and was Vice President of
Fermentation and Process Research for the Kelco division of Merck, where be led the development and commercialization of several major new
products and processing technologies. Dr. Flatt is the author of six patents and numerous professional papers. He received his B.S. in chemical
enginecring from the Massachusetts Institute of Technology, his M.S. in chemical engineering from the University of California - Berkeley, and his
Ph.D. in chemical and biochemical engineering from the University of Wisconsin - Madison.
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Mr. Nitze joined Martek in 2005 ag Chicf Operating Officer. Prior to joining Martek, Mr. Nitze served as Vice President of Operations at DRS
Technologies, with responsibility for the alignment and deployment of the company’s manufacturing and supply chain resources. Before joining
DRS Technologies, Mr. Nitze served as the Chief Operating Officer of Regulatory DataCorp, a New York City firm that provides risk management
services to financial services institutions, from July 2002 to April 2004. Prior to joining Regulatory DataCorp, Mr. Nitze was the business leader of
the Optoelectronics venture at Honeywell International from February 2000 to November 2001, where he had previously served as the head of global
operations for the Amorphous Metals division. Mr. Nize began his career at General Electric Co. in finance and subsequently held a variety of

COMPANY

Martek was incorporated in Delaware in 1985. Martek's principal executive offices are located at 6480 Dobbin Road, Columbia, Maryland 21045,
Our telephone number is (410) 740-0081 and our website address is http://www.mantek.com. We make our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly
reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and amendments to these reports available on our website free of charge as soon as practicable
after we file with the SEC.

customers, measures of profit and loss, total assets, financial information regarding geographic areas and export sales, can be found in our
Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Annual Repon.




MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF
EQUITY SECURITIES

The Company's common stock is traded on the NASDAQ Siock Market under the symbol MATK. As of January 9, 2007, there were approXimately
322 holders of record of the Company's common stock. The price of the Company’s common stock was $23.83 on January 9, 2007. No cash dividends
have been paid on the common stock and the Company does not anticipate paying any cash dividend in the foreseeable future. Dividend payments are
restricted under the Company's Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement dated September 30, 2005. The following table sets forth, for
the calendar periods indicated, the range of high and low sales prices for the Company's common stock as reported by NASDAQ:

Sales Price Range of Common Stock

Fiscal 2005 High Low j
November 1, 2004 - January 31, 2005 $53.85 $38.50
February 1, 2005 - April 30, 2005 $70.50 $32.00
May 1. 2005 - July 31, 2005 $46.23 $33.57 |
August 1, 2005 - October 31, 2005 $52.48 $28.20
Fiscal 2006 High Low
November 1, 2005 - January 31, 2006 $32.00 $23.14
February 1. 2006 - April 30, 2006 $37.22 $27.56
May 1, 2006 — July 31, 2006 $30.75 $21.70
August 1, 2006 - October 31, 2006 $30.84 $20.15

No repurchases of common stock took place during fiscal 2006.




MARTEK BIOSCIENCES CORPORATION
SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected financial data should be read in conjunction with “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results
of Operations” and the consolidated financial statements and notes contained in this Annual Report.

Year ended October 3,

In thousands, except per share data 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002

Consolidated Statements of Operations Data

Revenues:

Product sales $ 255838 § 203,765 § 170,565 S 112208 § 46,055

Contract manuficturing sales 14816 14,087 13,928 2,439 —
Total revenues 270,654 217,852 184,493 114,737 46,055
Cost of revenues:

Cost of product sales 144,457 120,865 103,423 66,347 29,794

Cost of contract manufacturing sales 14,676 12,516 11,570 2,192 —

Idle capacity costs 9,620 — — — —
Total cost of revenues 168,753 133,381 114,993 68,539 29,794
Gross margin 101,901 84,471 69,5040 46,198 16,261
Operating expenses:

Research and development (1) 24,823 20,468 18,596 13,154 12,188

Selling, general and administrative (1) 41,614 33,404 25,804 16,275 11,804

Restructuring charge 4,729 — — (250) 1,266

Other vperating expenses 1,158 7,654 4,000 1,943 406

Acquired in-process research and development — — — — 15,788
Total operating expenses 72,324 61,526 48,400 31,122 41,452
Income (loss) from opcrations 29,577 22,945 21,100 15,076 (25,191
Interest and other income (expense), net (1,528) 1,125 772 916 958
Income (loss) before tncome tax provision (benefit) 28,049 24,070 21,872 15,992 (24,233)
Income tax provision {benefit) (1) 10,238 8,786 (25,176) — —
Net income (loss) § 17811 $ 15284 S 47,048 $ 15992 § (24233
Net income {loss) per share, basic $ 0.55 $ 0.4% $ 1.62 by 063 $§ (110
Net income {loss) per share, diluted hY .55 $ 048 $ 1.55 g 058 § (1.1
Shares used in computing basic earnings per share 32,113 31,164 29,033 25510 21,982
Shares used in computing diluted earnings per share 32,343 32,032 30,386 27417 21,982

(1) Includes the following amounts related to equity-based compensation

expensc:

Rescarch and development 1,143 — — — —

Selling, general and administrative 2,129 — — — —

Income 1ax prevision {benefit) (1,194) — — — —




Consolidated Balance Sheets and Other Data

Cash, cash equivalents, short-term investments and marketable securities
Working capital

Total assets

Long-term debt, notes payabte and other long-term obligations
Long-term portion of deferred revenue

Accumulated deficit

Total stockholders™ equity

Cash dividends declared — common stock

October 31,

2006 2005 2004 2003 2002

$ 26,828 $ 33347 $ 42,650 § 96971 § 22419
120,182 124,208 68.195 106,218 30,457
600,846 578,485 501,398 295,523 124,312
46.277 66,115 97.175 10,441 —
9335 8,959 9,140 8.992 2,246
(31.425) (49.236) (645200 {111.568) (127.560)
495,448 469,205 346,164 243,964 105977




MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

This Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations contains forward-looking statements concerning our
business and operations, including, among other things, statements concerning the following:

*  cexpectations regarding future revenue growth, gross margin and everall profitabifity,

e expectations regarding product introductions and growth in mutritional product safes;

s cxpectations regarding potential colfaborations and acquisitions

s expectations regarding demand for products with owr nutritional oils;

*  cexpectations regarding sales to and by our infant formula licensees and supplemented infant formula market penetration fevels;
s cxpectations regarding marketing of our oils by owr infant formula licensees;

*  ceapectations regarding continued interest by and agreements with food, beverage and supplement companies;

¢ cxpectations regarding growing consumer recognition of the kev heaith benefits of DHA and ARA;

¢ expectations regarding competitive products;

e expectations regarding future efficicncies and improvements in manufacturing processes and the cost of production of our mutritional
oils;
expectations regarding future purchases of third-party manufactured oils;

s expeclations regarding the amount of production capacity and onr ability to meet fuiure demands for our nutritional oils;
& expectations regarding the amount of inventory held by us or our customers;

s expeciations regarding production capacity utilization and the effects of excess production capacity;

¢ expectations regarding future selling, general and administrative und research and development costs;

e cxpectations regarding future capital expenditures;

.

expectations regarding levels of consumption through governmental programs of infant formula products containing owr nutritional

oifs;

*  expectations regarding possibly significant expenses to defend purative securities class action knwsuits alleging fulse and materiol
misstatements and omissions of material facts concerning our business and prospects: and

s cxpectations regarding our ability to protect our intellectual property.

Forward-looking statements include those statements containing words such as the following:

. "will "

. "should "

. "could "

o anticipate,”
o hefieve”

e plan"

s estimate,”
e expect”

[ ]

“intend." and other similar expressions.

All of these forward-looking statements involve risks and uncertainties. They and other forward-looking statements in this annual report are all made
pursuant to the safe harbor provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. We wish 1o caution you that our actual results may
differ significantly from the results we discuss in our forward-looking statements. We discuss some of the risks that could cause such differences in
ltem 1A. Risk Factors in our Form 10-K for the year ended October 31, 2006 and in our various other filings with the Securities and Exchange
Commissian. Owr forward-locking statements speak only as of the date of this document, and we do not intend to updute these statements to reflect
events or circumstances that occur after that date.

GENERAL

Martek was founded in 1985. We are a leader in the innovation and development of omega-3 DHA products that promote health and weliness through
every stage of life. We produce /ife'sDHAT™ | a vegetarian source of the omega-3 fatty acid DHA (docosahexaenoic acid), for use in infant formula,
perinatal products, foods and beverages and dietary supplements, and ARA (arachidonic acid), an omega-6 fatty acid, for use in infant formula. We
sell oils containing these fatty acids as DHASCO®, life 'sDHA™, Neuromins® and ARASCO®. We derive DHA from microalgae and ARA from
fungi, using proprietary processes. Cell membranes throughout the body contain these fatty acids, and they are particularly concentrated in the brain,
central nervous system, retina and heart. Research has shown that DHA and ARA may enhance mental and visual development in infants. In addition,
research has shown that DHA may play a pivotal role in brain function throughout life and may reduce the risk of cardiovascular disease. Low levels
of DHA in adults have been linked 1o a variety of health risks, including Alzheimer's disease and dementia. Further research is underway to assess the
role of supplementation with our DHA on mitigating a variety of health risks. Additional applications of our patented technology based upon
microalgae include our currently marketed fluorescent detection products that can be used by researchers as an aid in drug discovery and diagnostics.

In 1992, we realized our first revenues from license fees related to our nutritional oils containing DHA and ARA and sales of sample quantitics of
these oils. In 1995, we recognized our first product and royalty revenues from sales of infant formula containing these oils, and in 1996 we began to
realize revenues from the sale of Neuromins®, a DHA dietary supplement. In 2001, the FDA completed a favorable review of our generally
recognized as safe notification for the use of our DHA and ARA oil blend in specified ratios in infant formula. We have entered into license
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agreements with 24 infant formula manufacturers, who collectively represent approximately 70% of the estimated $8.5 to0 $9.5 billion worldwide
wholesale market for infant formula and nearly 100% of the estimated $3.0 to $3.5 billion U.S. wholesale market for infant formula, including the
wholesale value of Women, Infant & Children program ("WIC") rebates. WIC is a federal grant program administered by the states for the benefit of
low-income, nutritionally at-risk women. infants and children. Our licensees include infant formula market leaders Mead Johnson Nutritionals.
Nestle. Abbott Laboratorics, Wyeth and Royal Numico, each of whom is selling infant formula fortified with our nutritional oils. Our licensees are
now selling term infant formula products containing our oils collectively in over 30 countries and preterm infant formula products containing our oils
collectively in over 60 countries around the world. Preterm infant formula products comprise less than 3% of the total infant formula market
worldwide. Supplemented intant formulas manufactured by Mead Johnson Nutritionals, Abbott Laboratories, PBM Products and Nestle are currently
being sold in the United States.

Martek has patented certain separate and distinct DHA technology, which we refer to as DHA-S, that is derived from a different algal strain than our
DHA authorized for addition to infant formula. We have received authorization from both the European Commission and the Australia New Zealand
Food Authority for the use of DHA-S oil as a Novel Food ingredient. This Novel Food designation authorizes the use of our DHA-S as an ingredient
in certain foods such as certain dairy products, including cheese and yogurt (but not milk-based drinks), spreads and dressings, breakfast cereals, food
supplements and dictary {oods for special medical purposes in the European Community. We have also received a favorable review by the FDA of our
GRAS notification for the use of DHA-S in food and beverage applications in the U.S. and have received similar approvals in Canada.

During the past three years, several new products were launched that contained /ife 'sDHA™. including:
e  Mead Johnson launched Expecta™ LIPIL®, a DHA supplement for pregnant and nursing women containing life 'sDHA™.
e PBM Products launched a beverage containing fife 'sDHA™ that is formulated for diabetics and people with atypical glucose tolerance.
e GlaxoSmithKline launched a second powdered drink mix containing fife sDHA™ in India. The product, Junior Horlicks. is formulated for
a child's developing brain and nervous system. GlaxoSmithKline had previously launched an adult DHA beverage.
e  Sciele Pharma, Inc. launched OptiNate™ and Mission Pharmacal launched Citracal® Prenatal + DHA. Both of these products are
prescription prenatal supplements containing life sDHA™.
e  Vincent Foods, LLC is selling Oh Mama! nutritien bars containing life sDHA™, which also 1arget pregnant and nursing women.
e Scveral egg producers, including Gold Circle Farms®, are producing eggs and liquid eggs using fife '«DHA™. These eggs are sold in
several grocery store chains in the U.S. and Europe.
« Priégola is sclling Simbi + Omega-3 yogurt with life sDHA ™, which is now available in major supermarket chains throughout Spain and
is being marketed to children and adults for its brain health benefits.
e  Odwalla. Inc. is selling Odwalla Soymilk and the Soy Smart™ Chai Soymilk drink, both of which feature /ife sDHAT. in the U.S.
e Dynamic Confections recently re-formulated the Botticelli Choco-Omeg® line of nutritional bars to include fife’sDHAT™. The bars ar¢
available at Canadian retailers.
e  Flora, Inc. recently launched Udo's Choice® DHA Oil Blend, 2 flaxseed oil blend, containing life'sDHA™. Flora's Udd's Choice brand is a
ling of vegetarian, organic and sustainable health oils.
e Italian dairy company Latteria Merano/Milchhof Meran recently launched Mente Viva™ fortified drinkable yogurt with life's DHA™.
This product is available in supermarkets throughout ltaly.
» ltalian company Centrale Del Latte Di Brescia launched Sprintissimo™ fortified drinkable yogurt with tife'sDHA™, This product is
available in supermarkets throughout Ialy.
e NuiraBella is selling Bellybar™ nutrition bars containing /ife WDHA™.
e Life Science Nutritionals recently launched Nutri-Kids Nutrition-to-Go™ including life'sDHA™. This ready-to-drink milk product is
available at select grocery and nutrition retailers in the U.S. and Canada.
e General Mills has introduced Yoplait Kids® featuring /ife'sDHA™. This yogurt product will be available at U.S. retailers nationwide in
mid-February 2007.

These products are expected to generate additional revenue for us during fiscal 2007, In addition, during fiscal 2005 and 2006, we entered into license
agreements with scveral large food and beverage companies which we expect 1o yield multiple launches of products containing life'sDHA™ and
revenues to us beginning in the next 3 to 18 months.

For the years ended October 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, we recognized approximately $17.8 million. $15.3 million and $47.0 million of net income,
respectively. and as of October 31, 2006, our accumulated deficit was approximately $31.4 million. Although we anticipate futurc growth in annual
sales of our nutritional oils, we are likely to continue to experience quarter-to-quarter and year-to-year fluctuations in our future operating results,
some of which may be significant. The timing and extent of future oils-related revenues are largely dependent upon the following factors:

e the timing of infant formula market introductions by our customers both domestically and internationally;

« the timing of our customers’ production and ordering patterns:

the timing and extent of stocking and destocking of invenlory by our customers, including the potential that customers will move to "just in
time" inventory purchasing now that we have reached a base finished goods inventory level;

the timing and extent of our customers' plant maintenance shutdowns;

the timing and extent of introductions of DHA into various child and/or adult applications:

the continued acceptance of products containing our oils under WIC programs in the U.S..

the continued acceptance of these products by consumers and continued demand by our customers.

the ability by us and our third-party manufacturers to produce adequate levels of our nutritienal oils on 2 consistent basis:
our ability to protect against competitive products through our patents;

competition [rom alternative sources of DHA and ARA, and




*  agreements with other future thitd-party collaborators to market our products or develop new products,

As such, the likelihood, timing and extent of future profitability are largely dependent on factors such as those mentioned above, as well as others,
over which we have limited or no control.

MANAGEMENT OUTLOOK

At present, we estimate that infam formula supplemented with our oiis has penetrated approximately 85% of'the U.S. infan; formula market. As such,
our revenue growth in the U.S. infant formula market is slowing. International demand for supplemented formulas, however, is increasing,
particularly in Asian markets, which should drive higher revenues for Martek. With respect to the food and beverage market, over the next several
quarters, we anticipate more announcements of supply agreements with food companies that will position us for increased future sales of our oils. We
also expect additional launches of products containing /ife sDIHA™ and increased sales in fiscal 2007 of our oils 1o food, beverage and supplement
customers for products promoting cognitive function and cardiovascular health. Management believes that over the next few years, non- infant
formula sales will continue to expand and could ultimately Tepresent a larger opportunity than infant formula.

Absent a favorable resolution of our current negotiations with our third-party ARA supplier, our gross margins during much of fiscal 2007 will be
negatively impacted by higher ARA costs. We expect, however, that the impact of ARA cost increases will be larpely offsct by the £ross margin
improvements resulting from the Company’s October 2006 plant restructuring. The restructuring is expected to reduce manufacturing costs and
operating expenses due to improved overal| manuficturing efficicncy and a reduction in Martek's workforce at it Winchester, Kentucky site. During
fiscal 2007, we will continue 1o work with our third-party ARA supplier and pursue other strategies in efforts to improve future margins.

I fiscal 2007, we intend 10 invest heavily in our sales and marketing cfforts, particularly in the food and beverage arca, as we aggressively pursue this
market. These costs, which are intended to accelerate growth in future years, will impact our results of’ operations in the coming year, but nonctheless,
We expect increases (o overall profitability in fiscal 2007 as compared with fiscal 2006.

PRODUCTION

We manufacture oils rich in DHA at our fermentation and oil processing facilities located in Winchester, Kentucky and Kingstree, South Carolina. In
2005. we completed the extensive expansion at our Kingstree facility for the fermentation and processing of our nutritional oils and now have two
fully redundant production facilities. The oils that we produce in these facilities are centified kosher by the Orthodox Union and are certified Halal by
the Islamic Food and Nutrition Council of America. In addition, both manufacturing facilities have received a rating of “superior,” the highest
passible rating, by the American Institute of Baking ("AIB").  In October 2006, we restructured our plant operations following a review of the
Company's current preduction and cost structure. Under the restructuring, a substantial portion of production formerly taking place in Winchester
was transferred 10 Kingstree. The restructuring is expected to reduce manufacturing costs and operating expenses, starting in the first quarter of fiscal
2007, due to improved manufacturing efficiency and a reduction in our workforce al the Winchester site. We Plan to maintain the essential
redundancy of dual-plant manufacturing capacity in order to mitigate production risk and to meet future customer demand. We believe that we can
bring the Winchester assets back to full production in a matter of months as required by customer demand.

Our ARA oils are purchased from DSM as manufactured at its Capua, ltaly and Belvidere, New Jersey plants. in fiscal 2006, we received
approximately enc-half of our ARA from each of DSM’s facilities. and in fiscal 2007, we expect to receive approximately 40% from Capua and 60%
from Belvidere, Because DSM is a third-party manufacturer, we have only limited control aver the timing and level of its Capua and Belvidere
production volumes.

In February 2006, we and DSM entered into an amendment to the ariginal agreement (“the Amendment™). The Amendment served to provide centain
claritving and updating language to the original agreement and to establish the overall economics associated with DSM's expansion al both its
Belvidere, New Jersey and Capua, ltaly production facilities. We guaranieed the recovery of certain costs incurred by DSM in connection with these
expanstons, up to $40 million, with such amount being reduced annually through December 31, 2008 (the "Recoupment Period") based upon ARA
purchases by us in excess of specified minimum thresholds, As of October 31, 2006, the guarantce amount has been reduced to approximately $25.0
million. The guarantee amount puyable, if any. at the end of the Recoupment Period, must be paid by January 31, 2009. The amount paid, if any, will
be credited against o portion of DSM invoices for purchases made after the Recoupment Period. Annual ARA unit pricing under the agreement with
DSM utilizes a cost-plus approach that is based on the prior year's actual costs incurred adjusted for current year volume and Cost expectations.
Calendar 2006 ARA purchases have been valued by us based on amounts and unit prices invoiced by DSM. Certain issues, however, still need 1o be
resolved in order to finalize 2006 ARA pricing. Absent a favorabie resolution to us, our recorded cost of ARA will approximate, in all material
respects, the agreed-upon amounts when negotiations with DSM are complete.

We have attempted 1o reduce the risk inherent in having a single supplier, such as DSM. through certain elements of our supply agreement with DSM,
In connection with this agreement. we have the ability to produce, either directly or through a third panty, an unlimited amount of ARA. The sale of
such self-produced ARA is limited annually. however, to the Breater of (i} 100 tons of ARA il or (i) any amounis ordered by us that DSM is unable
to fulfill. We have demonstrated the ability 10 produce limited amounts of ARA in our plants. To further improve our overall ARA supply chain, we
have directly engaged a U.S.-based provider of certain post-fermentation ARA manufacturing services, Along with our ARA downstream processing
capabilities m Kingstree and Winchester, this third-party facility provides us with multiple U.S. sites for the full downstream processing of ARA.




When combining our current DHA production capabilities in Winchester and Kingstree with DSM's current ARA production capabilities in italy and
the U.S.. we have production capacity for DHA and ARA products in excess of $500 million in annualized sales to the infant formula, perinatal, food
and beverage and dictary supplement markets. As such. our production capabilities exceed current demand: however, we have the ability to manage
production levels and. to 2 cenain extent, control our manufacturing costs. Nonetheless, when experiencing excess capacity, we may be unable to
producce the required quantities of oil cost-effectively due to the cxistence of significant levels of fixed production costs at our plants and the plants of
our suppliers.

The commercial success of our nutritional oils will depend, in part, on our ability to manufacture these oils or have them manufactured at large scale
on a continuous basis and at a commercially acceptable cost. Our success will also be somewhat dependent on our ability to align our production with
customer demand. |f market demand subsides due to our inability to meet demand for our products, our customers’ usc of competing products or for
any other reason, out results could be negatively impacted. There can also be no assurance that we will be able 1o successfully optimize production of
our nutritional oils. or continue to comply with applicable repulatory requirements, including GMP requirements. Under the terms of several of our
infant formula licenses. those licensees may elect 1o manufacture these oils themseclves. We are currently unaware of any of our licensces producing
our oils or prepanng to produce our oils, and estimate that it would take a licensee a minimum of one year to implement a process for making our oils.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
THE USE OF ESTIMATES

The preparation of our consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles requires management Lo
make cstimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reporicd in our consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. On an ongoing
basts, we evaluate our estimates and judgments, which are based on historical and anticipated results and trends and on various other assumpiions that
we believe are reasonable under the circumstances. including assumptions as to future events. By their nature, estimates are subject to an inherent
degree of uncertainty and, as such, actual results may difYer from our estimates. We believe that the following significant accounting policies and

assumptions involve a higher degree of judgment and complexity than others.

Valuation of Long-lived Assets We review our long-lived asscls, including fixed assets and certain idenuified intangibles, for impairment as events of
changes in circumstances accur indicating that the carrying amount of the asset may not be recoverable. As of October 31, 2006, these long-lived
assets had a total net book value of §376.9 million. Included in these long-lived assets are approximatcly $90.7 million of production equipment
whose use is nol currently required based on present customer demand. Undiscounted cash flow analyses are uscd (0 assess impairment. The
estimates of future cash flows involve considerable management judgment and are based on many assumptions for cach target market, including the
food and beverage market. Such assumptions include markel size, penetration levels and future product margins. While management belicves that its
projections are reasonable and that no impairment of these assets exists, different assumptions could aftect these evaluations and resul in material
impairment charges against the carrying value of these assels.

Revenue Recognition We derive revenue principally from two sources: product sales and contract manufacturing. We recognize product sales revenue
when persuasive cvidence of an arrangement exists, the fee is fixed or determinable, collectibility is probable and the product is shipped thereby
wransferring title and risk of loss, Typical infam formula license contracts include an upfront license fee. a prepayment of product sales and established
pricing on future proguct sales, which also may include discounts based on the achievement of certain volume putchases. In accordance with
Emerging Issues Task Force No. 00-21, "Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables” ("EITF No. 00-21"). the consideration from these
contracts is allocated based on the relative fair values of the scparate elements. Revenue is recognized on product sales when goods are shipped and all
other conditions for revenue recognition are met. 1f volume pricing discounts are deemed 10 be a separate element, revenue on related product
shipments is recognized using the estimated average price 1o the customer aver the term of the discount period, which requires an estimation of total
production shipments over that time frame. Once the requisite volume thresholds have been satisfied, the previously recorded deferred revenue is
recognized over the remaining discount period. Cash received as a prepayment on future product purchases is deferred and recognized as revenuc
when product is shipped. Revenue from product licenses is deferred and recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of the agreement. Royalty
income is recorded when earned, based on information provided by our licensees,

Contract manufacturing revenue is recognized when goods are shipped 1o customers and all other conditions for revenue recognition are met. Cash
reccived that is related to future performance under such contracts is deferred and recognized as revenue when earned.

Deferred Income Taxes We provide for income taxes in accordance with the asset and liability method. Under this method, deferred tax assets and
liabilities are determined based on temporary differences between the financial reporting bases and the tax bases of assets and liabilities. We also
recognize deferred tax assets for tax net operating loss carryforwards, These deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using the enacled tax rates
and laws expected to be in effect when such amounts are projected to reverse or be utilized. As of October 31,2006, our total gross deferred tax asset
was §59.7 million. The realization of total deferred tax assets is contingent upon the generation of future taxable income. When appropriate, we
recognize a valuation allowance 1o reduce such deferred tax assels to amounts more likely than not to be ultimately realized. The calculation of
deferred tax assets (including valuation allowances) and liabilities requires management 1o apply significant judgment related to such factors as the
application of complex tax jaws and the changes in such laws. We have also considered our future operaling results which require assumptions such
as future market penetration levels, forecasted revenues and the mix of earmings in the jurisdictions in which we operate in determining the need fora
valuation allowance. We review our deferred tax assets on a quarterly basis to determine if a change to our valuation allowance is required based
upon these factors. As of October 31, 2006, our deferred tax assct valuation allowance was $18.6 million, which related primarily to certain net
operating loss carryforwards whose realization is uncertain. Changes in our assessment of the need for a valuation allowance could give rise 102
change in such allowance, potentially resulting in material amounts of additional expense ot benefit in the peried of change.

Drventory We carry our inventory at the lower of cost or market and include appropriate elements of material. labor and indirect costs. Inventories are
valued using a weighted average approach that approximates the first-in, first-out method. We regularly review inventory quantities on hand and
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record a reserve for excess, obsolete and "off-spec” inventory based primarily on an estimated forecast of product demand and the likelihood of
consumption in the normal course of manufacturing operations. Those reserves are based on significant estimates. Qur estimates of future product
demand or assessments of future consumption may prove to be inaccurate, in which case we may have understated or overstated the provision
required. Although we make every effort to ensure the accuracy of our forecasts and assessments, any significant unanticipated changes, particularly
in demand or competition levels, could have a significant impact on the values of our inventory and our reported operating results.  In addition,
abnormal amounts of inventory costs related to, among other things, idle facilities, freight handling and waste material expenses are recognized as
period charges and expensed as incurred. The determination of such period costs requires the use of judgment in establishing the level of production
that the Company considers normal. A different conclusion as te what constitutes normal production levels could result in material changes to idle
capacity expenses recognized.

Equity-Based Compensation Expense Effective November |, 2005, we adopted the fair value recognition provisiens of Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 123 (revised 2004), “Shared-Based Payment™ (“SFAS 123R™), using the modified prospective transition
method, and therefore have not restated prior periods’ results. Under this method, we recognize equity-based compensation expense for all
share-based payment awards granted afier November 1, 2005 and granted prior to but not yet vested as of November 1, 2003, in accordance with
SFAS 123R. Under the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS 123R, we recognize equity-based compensation expense net of an estimated
forfeiture rate and recognize compensation cost for only those shares expected to vest on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period of the
award, Prior to SFAS 123R adoption, we accounted for share-based payment awards under Accounting Principles Board Opinion Ne. 25,
“Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees™ (“*APB 25”) and. accordingly, we were required to recognize compensation expense only when options
were granted with a discounted exercise price.

Determining the appropriate fair value medel and calculating the fair value of share-based payment awards require the input of subjective
assumptions, including the ¢xpected life of the share-based payment awards and stock price volatility, Management determined that our historical
velatility is a better indicator of expected volatility and future stock price trends. The assumptions used in calculating the fair value of share-based
payment awards represent management's best estimaltes, but these estimates involve inherent uncertainties and the application of management
judgment. As a result. if factors change and we use different assumptions, our equity-based compensation expense could be materially different in the
future. [n addition, we are required to estimate the expected forfeiture rate and recognize expense only for those shares expected to vest. If our actual
forfeiture rate is materially dilferent from our estimate, the equity-based compensation expense could be significantly different from what we have
recorded in the current period.

Restructuring Charge In October 2006, we restructured our plant operations. An accounting charge resulted from this restructuring, which required
management to utilize significant estimates related to expenses for severance and other employee separation costs and the realizable values of certain
assets formerly supporting production. If the actual amounts differ from our estimates, the amount of the restructuring charges could be materially
impacted.

Patent Cost Capitalization We capitalize legal and related costs incurred in connection with pending patent applications. Such costs are amortized
over the life of the patent, if successful, or charged to operations upon denial or in the period during which a determination not to further pursue such
application is made. We also capitalized external legal costs incurred in the defense of our patents when it is believed that the future economic benefit
ot'the patent will be increased and a successful defense is probable. Capitalized patent defense costs are amortized over the remaining life of the
rclated patent. Our assessment of future economic benefit and/ or a successful defense of our patents involves considerable management judgment. A
different conclusion could result in material write-offs of the carrying value of these asscts.

RESULTS OF QPERATIONS

Revenues
The following table presents revenues by category (in thousands):

Year ended October 31,
2006 2005 2004
Product sales $ 255,838 $ 203,765 3 170,565
Contract manufacturing sales 14,816 14,087 13,928
Total revenues $ 270654 % 217.852 $ 184,493

Product salcs increased by $52.1 million or 26% in fiscal 2006 as compared to fiscai 2005 and increased by $33.2 million or 19% in fiscal 2005 as
compared to fiscal 2004, primarily due, in both comparative periods, to higher sales of nutritional products to our infant formula licensees.
Substantially all of our product sales in fiscat 2006, 2005 and 2004 relate to the sale of our oils for use in infant formulas, and continued sales
increases in both the U.S. and international markets contributed to our revenue growth. Included in product sales in fiscal 2006 and 2005 was $4.0
and $5.6 million, respectively, in sales of DHA oil to the pregnancy and nursing market. Sales to the pregnancy and nursing market began during the
fourth quarter of fiscal 2004 and initial customer stocking occurred in fiscal 2005. Also included in product sales in fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004 was
$7.6 million, $5.4 million and $4.0 miilion, respectively, of sales of our oils for uses outside of the infant formula and pregnancy and nursing markets.

Approximately 83%, 88% and 90% of our product sales in fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004, tespectively, was generated by sales to Mead Johnson
Nutritionals, Abbott Laboratories, Nestle and Wyeth. Although we are not given precise information by our customers as to the countries in which
infant formula containing our oils is ultimately sold, we estimate that approximately 60%, 67% and 67% of our sales to infant formula licensees for
fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively, reiate to sales in the U.S. The first infant formulas containing our oils were introduced in the U.S. in
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February 2002 and. as of October 31, 2006, we estimate that formula supplemented with our oils had penetrated approximately 85% of the U.S. infant
formula market,

Although we anticipate that annual product sales will continue to grow. our future sales growth is dependenttoa significant degree upon the following
factors: (i) the launches and expansions of current products containing our nutritional oils by our customers in new and existing markets; (ii) the
Jaunches of new products containing our nutritional oils by cutrent or future customers; (iii) the timing and extent of stocking and destocking of

inventory by our cuslomers; and (iv) the availability and use by our customers and others of competitive products.

Contract manufacturing sales revenues, totaling approximately $14.8 million, $14.1 million and $13.9 million in fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004,
respectively, relate to fermentation work performed for various third parties at our Kingstree, South Caralina facility.

As a tesult of the above, total revenues increased by $52.8 miltion or 24% in fiscal 2006 as compared to fiscal 2005 and increased by $33.4 millien or
18% in fiscal 2005 as compared to fiscal 2004.

Cost of Revenues
The following table presenis our cost of revenues (in thousands):

¥ ear ended October 31.

2006 2005 2004
Cost of product sales 5 144,457 $ 120,865 $ 103,423
Cost of contruct manufacuring sales 14,676 12,516 11.570
1dle capacity costs 9.620 — —
Total cost of revenues 3 168,753 § 133,381 $ 114,993

Cost of product sales, including idle capacity costs, as a percentage of product sales increased to 60% in fiscal 2006 from 59%, in fiscal 2005. The
increase was due to idle capacity charges (4%), partially offset by DHA productivity improvements {1%) and decreases in our overall cost of ARA
(2%). ldle capacity costs were £0.6 million in fiscal 2006. 1dle capacity costs represent certain fixed period costs associated with underutilized
manufacturing capacity.

Cost of product sales decreased as a percentage of product sales to 59% in fiscal 2005 from 61% in fiscal 2004. The decrease was primarily due to
DHA productivily improvements (a decrease of approximately 4%) partially offsct by an increase in our overall cost of ARA due primarily 1o the
decline of the U.S. dollar against the euro, the currency in which we purchase a portion of our ARA.

Cost of contract manufacturing sales, totaling $14.7 million, $12.5 million and $11.6 million in fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively, are the costs
related 1o the fermentation work performed for various third parties at our Kingstree, South Carolina facility. Our contract manufacturing sales
achieve significantly lower gross margins than our product sales but contribute to the recovery of our fixed overhead costs. These overall margins
will vary between periods primarily due to contract mix and volume.

We expect our overall gross protit margin in fiscal 2007 to reflect the improvements derived from the October 2006 plant restructuring. which will
significantly reduce idle capacity costs. We expect, however, that for much of fiscal 2007 these benefits will be more than offset by increases Lo our
ARA purchase costs from our third-party supplicr. We arc currently in negotiations with our ARA supplier in attempts 10 mitigate such price
INCTeases.

Operating Expenses
The following table presents our operating expenscs (in thousands):

Year ended October 31,
2006 2005 2004
Research and development $ 24,823 § 20468 s 18,5496
Selling, general and administrative 41,614 33,404 25,804
Restructuring charge 4729 — —
Other operating cxpenses 1,158 7,654 4,000
‘Total operating ¢xpenscs s 72324 § 61526 § 43400

Research and Development Our research and development costs increased by $4.4 million or 21% in fiscal 2006 as compared o fiscal 2005. The
increase is primarily due to additional costs incurred on clinical studies focusing on the cognitive benefits of DHA.  Research and development
expenses also include $1.2 million of non-cash equity-based compensation charges in fiscal 2006.

Our rescarch and development costs increased by $1.9 million or 10% in fiscal 2005 as compared to fiscal 2004 due 1o additional resources tocused on
DHA and ARA production improvements, the development of new DHA products for the food and beverage industry and the commencement of new
DHA clinical studies.

Selfing, General and Administrative Our selling, general and administrative costs increased by $8.2 million or 25% in fiscal 2006 as compared 10
fiscal 2005. The increasc was largely due to higher personnel costs, including an expansion of our sules and marketing staff (increase of $3.8 million),
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and legal costs (increase of $1.4 million). Selling, general and administrative expenses also include $2.1 million of non-cash equity-based
compensation charges in fiscal 2006.

Our selling, general and administrative costs increased by $7.6 million or 29% in fiscal 2005 as compared to fiscal 2004. The increase was primarily
due to increased personnel costs (increase of $1.8 million), legal costs (increase of $1.6 million) and insurance costs {increase of $1.1 million}
required to manage our overall growth as well as the costs of Sarbanes-Oxley Act compliance (increase of $1.0 million) and certain patent-related
expenses (increase of $1.1 million).

Restructuring Charge We recognized a charge of $4.7 million in fiscal 2006 resulting from the plant restructuring announced in October 2006
following a review of our current production and cost structure. This charge primarily includes employee separation costs and a write-down of certain
asscts supporting production in Winchester. We anticipate incurring approximately $500,000 of additional restructuring costs in fiscal 2007 related
mainly to outplacement services and employee relocation costs. See Note 11 to the consolidated financial statements for further discussion.

Other Operating Expenses We incurred other operating expenses of $1.2 million, $7.7 million and $4.0 million in fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004,
respectively. These costs were significantly lower in fiscal 2006 as production start-up costs incurred by us have greatly diminished as a result of the
completion in late 2005 of the Kingstree facility expansion. These expenditures in fiscal 2005 and 2004 related primarily to production start-up costs
associated with the expansion at our Kingstree facility, which include training expenses and costs related to the scale-up and validation of new
equipment and production processes. These costs also include qualification of certain third-party manufacturers as well as expenses related to the
Winchester wastewater treatment matter in fiscal 2004,

Interest and Other Income, Net
Interest and other income, net, increased by $100,800 in fiscal 2006 as compared to fiscal 2005 and increased by $700,000 in fiscal 2005 as compared
to fiscal 2004, due primarily to varying levels of cash, cash equivalents and short-term investiments and changes in interest rates.

Interest Expense

Interest expense increased by $2.7 millien in tiscal 2006 as compared to fiscal 2005 and increased by $300,000 in fiscal 2005 as compared to fiscal
2004, as capitatization of interest costs has largely ceased with the completion of the Kingstree expansion. See "Liguidity and Capital Resources" for
further discussion.

Income Tax Provision (Benefit)
The non-cash provision for income taxes totaled $10.2 million and $8.8 million in fiscal 2006 and 2005, respectively, and has been recerded based
upon our effective tax rate of 36.5%.

In fiscal 2004, we reversed approximately $51 million of our deferred tax asset valuation allowance. This reversal resulted in the recognition of an
income tax benefit totaling $25.2 million, a direct increase to stockholders’ equity of approximately $22.8 million due to non-qualified stock option
excrcises and a decrease to goodwill of approximately $2.6 million due to certain basis differences and net operating loss carryforwards resulting
from our acquisition of OmegaTech. As of October 31, 2006, the net recorded value of our deferred tax asset was approximately $41.2 million.
Realization of deferred tax assets is contingent upon the generation of future taxable income. As such, the realization of this $41.2 million asset will
require the generation of approximately $113 million of future taxable income.

As of October 31, 2006, we had net operating loss carryforwards for Federal income tax purpases of approximately $183 million, which expire at
various dates between 2010 and 2025. Of the total net operating loss carryforwards, the 1ax eifect of approximately $51.6 million continues to be
fully reserved through a valuation allowance as realizability of these assets is uncertain at this time. Should realization of these and other deferred tax
assets become more likely than not, approximately $9.9 million of the resulting benefit will be reflected as an income tax benefit upon reversal of the
allowance, approximately $7.3 million will be reflected as a reduction to goodwill and approximately $1.4 million will be reflected as an increase 1o
stockholders’ equity.

Net Income
As a result of the foregoing, net income was $17.8 million in fiscal 2006 as compared to net income of $15.3 million in fiscal 2005 and net income of
£47.0 million in fiscal 2004,

Prior to November |, 2005, we accounted for our equity-based compensation plans under the recognition and measurement provisions of Accounting
Principles Board Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees™ (“APB 257), and related interpretations, as permitted by SFAS

No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation™ (“*SFAS 1237). Effective November I, 2005, we adopted the fair value recognition provisions
of SFAS No. 123 (revised 2004), “Share-Based Payment” (“SFAS 123R™), using the modified prospective transition method. Under the modified
prospective transition method, compensation cost recognized in fiscal 2006 includes: (2) compensation cost for all share-based payments granted
prior to but not yet vested as of November 1, 2005, based on the grant date fair value estimated in accordance with the original provisions of SFAS
123 and (b) compensation cost for all share-based payments granted subsequent to November 1, 2005, based on the grant date fair value estimated in
accordance with the provisions of SFAS 123R. Results for prior periods have not been restated.

As a result of adopting SFAS 123R on November 1, 2005, income before income taxes and net income in fiscal 2006 were $3.3 million and $2.1
million lower, respectively, than if we had continued to account for equity-based compensation under APB 25. Basic and diluted earnings per share in
fiscal 2006 were each $0.06 lower than if we had continued to account for equity-based compensation under APB 25. As of October 31, 2006, there
was $2.3 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested stock options granted under our equity-based compensation plans. The
cost is expected to be recognized through fiscal 2011 with a weighted average recognition period of approximately one year.
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In December 2004 and January and May 2005, we modified the terms of certain outstanding and unvested stock options whose exercise prices were
preater than our closing stock price on the modification dates. Total modifications served to immediately vest approximately 1.2 million unvested
stock options. The accelerations enabled us to avoid recording approximately $27 million of compensation cost that would have been required to be
recognized under SFAS 123R.

RECENTLY ISSUED
ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

In July 2006, the FASB issued FASB Ilnterpretation No. 48, "Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes—an interpretation of FASB Statement No.
109" ("FIN 48"), which clarifies the accounting and disclosure for uncertain income tax positions, as defined. FIN 48 sceks to reduce the diversity in
practice associated with certain aspects of the recognition and measurement related to accounting for income taxes. This interpretation will be
effective for the fiscal year beginning November 1, 2007. We are currently assessing the effect of adopting FIN 48 on our consolidated financial
position and results of operations.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements” ("SFAS 1577). SFAS 157 provides guidance for using fair value to
measure assets and liabilities. 1t also responds to investors’ requests for expanded information about the extent to which companics measurc assets
and liabilities at fair value, the information used to measure fair value and the effect of fair value measurements on carnings. SFAS 157 applies

whenever other standards require (or permit) assets or liabilities to be measured at fair value, and does not expand the use of fair value in any new
circumstances. SFAS 157 is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007, We are currently evaluating
the effieet that the adoption of SFAS 157 will have on our consolidated financial position and results of operations.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
We have financed our operations primarily from the following sources:
cash gencrated from operations;
proceeds from the sale of equity securities;

cash received from the exercise of stock options and warrants; and
debt financing.

At October 31, 2006, our primary sources of liquidity were our cash, cash equivalents and shon-term investments totaling $26.8 million as well as the
$99 million available portion of our revolving credit facility. Cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments decreased $6.5 million from October
31, 2005. This decrease was duc primarily to repayment of borrowings under our revolving credit facility, partially offset by our net income which
allowed for the generation of positive operating cash flows.

In general, we believe that our current production infrastructure can accommodate our short- and medium-term growth objectives in all material
respects. As such, in total, we expect that capital expenditures over the next twelve months will not exceed $20 million. In fiscal 2006, we incurred
interest on borrowings of approximately $3.6 million and recorded amortization of related debt fees of approximately $200.000, of which, in total,
approximately $700,000 was capitalized. Interest costs have been capitalized 1o the extent {hat the related borrowings were used to cover the balance
of projects under construction.

Since our inception, we have raised approximately 3420 million from public and private sales of our equity securities. as well as from option and
-arrant exercises. In August 2004, our shelf registration statement was declared effective by the Securities and Exchange Commission. The shelf
registration statement enables us to raise funds through the offering of debt securities, preferred stock, common stock and warrants, as well as any
combination thereof, from time to time and through one or more methods of distribution, in an aggregate amount of up to $200 million. [n January
2005, we completed an underwritten public offering of 1.756.614 shares of our common stock at price of $49.10 per share pursuarit to the shelf
registration statement. Net proceeds to us, after deducting an underwriting discount and offering expenses, amounied to approximately $81.4 million.
Of the proceeds, $30 million was used for the partial repayment of debt with the remainder intended to be used for capital expenditures, working
capital and general corporate purposes. Remaining availability under the shelf registration statement is approximately $110 million at Qctober 31,
2006.
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The following table sets forth our future minimum payments under contractual obligations at October 31, 2006:

Less than 1-3 35 More than

In thousands Total 1 year years years 5 years
Notes payable(1) % 11,368 $ 1,163 $ 9,043 $ 370 $ 792
Borrowings under revolving credit facility 36,000 — — 36,000 —
Operating lease obligations(2) 4,422 1,013 1,895 1,172 342
Unconditional purchase obligations(3), (4} 35,667 4,289 31,378 — —
Total contractual cash obhigations b 87,457 $ 6,465 3 42,316 % 37,542 3 1,134

(1) Minimum payments above include interest and principal due under these notes.

(2) Does not include lease payments on equipment formerly subject to operating lease at our Kingstree facility that we repurchased for $3.9
million in November 2006.

(3) Primarily includes future inventory purchases from DSM pursuant to the guarantee described below in "Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements.”

(4} Does nat include $750,000 license payment for plant-based DHA technology due upon execution of an amendment to collaboration
agreement between Martek and a Canadian biotechnology company in January 2007,

Included within notes payable is a $10 million note with a stated interest rate of 5% that we assumed as part of the acquisition of FermPro. The note
was amended in January 2004 and is now an unsecured obligation of the Company with a maturity date of December 31, 2008. Principal is amortized
over a 20-year period, with the balance due at maturity.

[n September 2005, we entered into a $135 million secured revolving credit facility that amended and expanded our existing $100 million credit
facility. The revolving credit facility is collateralized by accounts receivable, inventory and all capital stock of our subsidiaries and expires in
September 2010. The weighted average interest rate on amounts outstanding under the credit facility was approximately 6.4%, 4.9% and 3.5% for the
years ended October 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively, and the weighted average commitment fee rate on unused amounts was approximately
0.2%, 0.3% and 0.3%, respectively. Both the interest and commitment fee rates are based on LIBOR and our current leverage ratio. Among other
things, the credit facility agreement contains restrictions on future debt, the payment of dividends and the further encumbrance of assets. In addition,
the credit facility requires that we comply with specified financial ratios and tests, including minimum coverage ratios and maximum leverage ratios.
We do not believe that these covenants restrict cur ability to carry out our current business plan. As of October 31, 2006, we were in compliance with
all of these debt covenants and had outstanding borrowings of $36 million under the revolving credit facility.

In December 2003, we entered into a collaboration agreement with a Canadian biotechnology company to co-develop DHA products from plants.
This arrangement included the reimbursement of expenses incurred by the co-collaborator as well as the payment by us of potential royalties and
additional milestone payment amounts if certain scientific results were achieved in the future. In January 2007, an amendment to this agreement was
execuled, Pursuant to the amendment, the co-collaborator will continue its research and development until June 2007, with expenses to be reimbursed
by us through April 2007. Furthermore, we acquired exclusive license rights to the plant-based DHA technology developed by the co-collaborator for
a period of at least 16 years. As consideration for this exclusive license, we will make a license payment of $750,000, with additional payments of up
to $750,000 due in certain circumstances, subject to minimum royalties of 1.5% of gross margin, as defined, if we ultimately commercialize a
plant-based DHA using any technology. During the term of the license, we may be required to pay additional royalties of up to 6.0% of gross margin,
as defined, on sales of products in the future which utilize certain licensed technologies. At the amendment date, the respective milestones provided
for in the original agreement had not been achieved, and no milestone payments specified in the original agreement have been or will be made.

We believe that the revolving credit facility, when combined with our cash, cash equivatents and short-term investments of $26.8 million on-hand at
October 31, 2006, and anticipated operating cash flows, will provide us with adequate capital to meet our obligations for at least the next twelve to
eighteen months,

The ultimate amount of additional funding that we may require will depend, among other things, on one or more of the following factors:

our ability to operate profitably and generate positive cash flow;

growth in our infant formula, food and beverage and other nutritional product sales;

the extent and progress of our research and development programs;

the progress of pre-clinical and clinical studies;

the time and costs of obtaining and maintaining regulatory clearances for our preducts that are subject to such clearances;
the costs involved in filing, protecting and enforcing patent claims;

competing technological and market developments;

the development or acquisition of new products;

the cost of acquiring additional and/or operating and expanding existing manufacturing facilities for our various products and potential
products (depending on which products we decide to manufacture and continue to manufacture ourselves);

the costs associated with our internal build-up of inventory levels;

the costs associated with our defense against a putative securities class action and other lawsuits;

the costs of merger and acquisition activity; and

the costs of marketing and commercializing our products.

L ]
*
L
L]

We can offer no assurance that, if needed, any of our financing alternatives will be available to us on terms that would be acceptable, if at all.
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OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

We have entered into lease agrecments for certain laboratory and administrative space as well as manufacturing equipment with rental payments
aggregating $4.4 million over the remaining lease terms, which expire through 2011

In February 2006, we and DSM entered into an amendment 1o the Apri! 2004 agreement {“the Amendment”). The Amendment served to provide
certain clarifying and updating language to the original agreement and to establish the overall economics associated with DSM’s expansion at both its
Belvidere, New Jersey and Capua, ftaly production facilities. We guaranteed the recovery of certain costs incurred by DSM in connection with these
expansions, up to $40 million, with such amount being reduced annually through December 31, 2008 (the "Recoupment Period") based upon ARA
purchases by us in excess of specified minimum thresholds. As of October 31, 2006, the guarantee amount has been reduced to approximately $25.0
million. The guarantee amount payable, if any, at the end of the Recoupment Period, must be paid by January 31, 2009. The amount paid, if any, will
be credited against a portion of DSM invoices for purchases made afier the Recoupment Period.

We do not engage in any other off-balance sheet financing arrangements. In particular, we do not have any interest in entities referred to as variable
interest entities, which include special purpose entities and structured finance entities.
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QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
We are subject to market risk associated with changes in foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates.

Purchases of ARA from DSM's plant in Capua, ltaly are denominated in euros, which exposes us to risks related to changes in exchange rates between
the U.S. dollar and the euro. Fluctuations between the U.S. dollar and the euro will impact our cost of ARA oil and gross margins. Qur exposure to
these currency fluctuations has decreased with DSM now producing 60% of its ARA in the U.S. at its Belvidere, New Jersey facility. We enter into
foreign currency cash flow hedges to reduce the related market risk on our payment obligations. We do not enter into foreign currency cash flow
hedges for speculative purposes. At Oclober 31, 2006, we had unrealized gains on such hedge instruments totaling $200,000, net of income tax
provision. We estimate that a 3% change in the exchange rate would impact gross margins of our infant formula products by approximately 1%.

We are subject to risk from adverse changes in interest rates, primarily relating to variable-rate borrowings used to maintain liquidity, Based on our

variable-rate debt outstanding at October 31, 2006, a 1% change in LIBOR would change annual interest costs by approximately $400,000. At
October 31, 2006, the carrying amounts of debt approximate fair value,
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MANAGEMENT'S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

“The management of Martek Biosciences Corporation ("Martek™) is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal contro! over
financial reporting. as such term is defined in Securities Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f). Martek's internal control system is designed to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for exiernal purposes in accordance
with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Martek's intemmal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that
(i) pertain to the mainienance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect Mariek's transactions and dispositions of assets,
(ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary 10 permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with U.S.
generally accepted accounting principles, and that Martek's receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance with authorizations of
Martek's management and directors, and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use,
or disposition of Martek's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

There are inherent limitations in the effectiveness of any internal control over financia! reporting, including the possibility of human error and the
circumvention or overriding of controls, Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. Accordingly, even effective
internal contro! over financial reporting can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to financial statement preparation.

Martek’s management, including the principal executive officer and principal financial officer, conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of
Martek's internal control over financial reporting based on the framework in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on the evaluation under the framework in Internal Control—Integrated F ramework,
management concluded that Martek’s internal control over financial reporting was effective as of October 31, 2006 to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with U.S. generally
accepted accounting principles.

Management discussed its assessment with the Audit Committee of the Board of Ditectors. Management's assessment of the effectiveness of
Martek’s internal control over financial reporting as of October 31, 2006 has been audited by Emst & Young LLP, independent registered public
accounting firm, as stated in their report which is included herein.

Jsf Steve Dubin /s/ Peter L. Buzy
Steve Dubin Peter L. Buzy
Chief Executive Officer and Director Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer and Executive Vice President for

Finance and Administration

January 9, 2007
January 9, 2007
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REPORT OF ERNST & YOUNG LLP, INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Martek Biosciences Corporation

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Martek Biosciences Corporation as of October 31, 2006 and 2003, and the related
consclidated statements of income, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended October 31, 2006. These
financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements
based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An
audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of Martek
Biosciences Corporation at October 31, 2006 and 2005, and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in
the period ended October 31, 2006, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Beard (United States), the effectiveness of
Martek Biosciences Corporation’s internal control over financial reporting as of October 31, 2006, based on criteria established in Internal
Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsering Organizations of the Treadway Commission, and our report dated January 9,
2007 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

As discussed in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements, in fiscal year 2006, Mariek Biosciences Corporation changed its method of
accounting for equity-based compensation in accordance with guidance provided in Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123(R),

“Share-Based Payment”,
é/wvt ¥ MLLP

January 9, 2007
McLean, Virginia
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MARTEK BIOSCIENCES CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

October 31,
In thousands, except share and per share data 2006 2005
Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 15,578 5 11,047
Short-term investments and marketable securities 11,250 22,300
Accounts receivable, net 32,746 27,603
Inventorics, net 100,320 91,535
Other current assets 10,074 5,929
Total current assets 169,968 158,414
Property, plant and equipment, net 291.445 290,733
Deferred tax asset 39,969 48.201
Goodwill 48,603 48,490
Other intangible assets, net 36.828 31,129
Other assets. net 14,033 1518
Total assets 5 600,846 $ 578,485
Liabilities and stockholders® equity
Current linbilities
Accounts payable § 21,663 $  le,661
Accrued liabilities 24,098 13,692
Current portion of notes payable and other long-term obligations 1.231 3,113
Current portion of deferred revenue 2,794 740
Total current liabilities 49,786 34,206
Long-term debt under revolving credit facility 36,000 55,000
Notes payable and other long-term obligations 10.277 11,115
Long-term portion of deferred revenue 9,335 8,959
Toual liabilities 105,398 109,280
Commitments
Stockholders’ equity
Preferred stock, $.01 par value, 4,700,000 shares authorized; none issued or outstanding — —_
Series A junior participating preferred stock, $.01 par value; 300,000 shares authorized; none issued or outstanding — —
Series B junior participating preferred stock, $.01 par value; 300,000 shares authorized; none issued or outstanding — —
Common stock, $.10 par value; 100,000,000 shares authorized; 32,156,162 and 32,026,595 shares issued and
outstanding, respectively 3,216 3.203
Additional paid-in capital 523,486 515,237
Accumulated other comprehensive income 171 1
Accumulated deficit (31,425) (49,236)
Total stockholders® equity 495 448 469,205
Total liabilities and stockholders” equity 5 600,846 $ 578,485

See accompanying notes.
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MARTEK BIOSCIENCES CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

Year ended October 31,
In thousands. cxcept share and per share data 2006 2003 2004
Revenues:
Product sales 3 255,838 $ 203,765 $ 170,565
Contract manufacturing sales 14,816 14,087 13,928
Total revenues 270,654 217,852 184,493
Cost of revenues:
Cost of product sales 144,457 120,865 103,423
Cost of contract manufacturing sales 14,676 12,516 11,570
[dle capacity costs 9.620 — —
Total cost of revenues 168,753 133,381 114,993
Gross margin 101,90 84,471 69,500
Operating expenses:
Rescarch and development (1) 24,823 20,468 18,596
Sclling, general and administrative (1) 41.614 33,404 25,804
Restructuring charge 4,729 — —
Other operating expenses 1,158 7,654 4,000
Total operating expenses 72,324 61,526 48,400
Income from operations 29,577 22,9545 21,100
Interest and other income, nel 1.490 1,428 777
Interest expense (3.018) (303) (3}
[ncome before income tax provision {benefit) 28,049 24,070 21,872
Ingome tax provision (benefit) (1) 10,238 8,786 (25, 176)
Net income $ 17,811 $ 15,284 $ 47,048
Net income pet share
Basic $ 0.55 $ 0.49 g 1.62
Diluted $ 0.55 $ 0.48 s 1.55
Weighted average common shares outstanding
Basic 32,113,301 31,164,149 29,033,241
Diluted 32,343,015 32,031,503 30,385,707
(1) Includes the following amounts related 1o equity-based compensation expense:
Research and development 1,143 — —
Selling, general and administrative 2.129 — —

[ncome tax provision (benefit)

See accompanying noles.




MARTEK BIOSCIENCES CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Accumulated
Additional Other
Common Stock Paid-in Comprehensive Accumulated
In thousands, except share data Shares Amount Capital Income Deficit Total
Balance at October 31, 2003 28,041,323 3% 2804 § 352,728 g — 5 (111,568) § 243,964
Issuance of common stock, net of issuance costs 176,885 18 11,272 — — 11,290
Exercise of stock options and warrants 1,272,919 127 20,817 — — 20,544
Equity-based compensation — — 28 — — 28
Tax benefit of exercise of non-qualified stock options — —_ 22,822 — — 22,822
Net income —_ — — — 47,048 47,048
Other comprehensive income:
Unrealized gain on exchange rate forward
contract, net of tax of $0 —_ —_ —_ 68 _ 68
Comprehensive income 47,116
Balance at October 31, 2004 29,491,127 2,949 407,667 68 (64,520) 346,164
[ssuance of common stock, net of issuance costs 1,756,614 176 81,268 — — 81.444
Exercise of stock options 778,854 78 18,592 —_ — 18,670
Equity-based compensation — — 36 — — 36
Tax benefit of exercise of non-qualified stock options — —_ 7.674 — — 7,674
Net income — — — - 15.284 15,284
Other comprehensive income:
Unrealized loss on exchange rate forward
contract, net of tax of $0 — — — (67) — (67
Comprehensive income 15217
Balance at October 31, 2005 32,026,595 3,203 515,237 1 (49,236) 469,205
Exercise of stock options and warrants 129.567 13 2,909 — — 2922
Equity-based compensation — — 3,753 — — 3,753
Tax benefit of exercise of nen-qualified stock options — — 1,587 — — 1,587
Net income — — — —_ 17,811 17.811
Other comprehensive income:
Unrealized gain on exchange rate forward
contract, net of tax of 5102 — — — 170 — 170
Comprehensive income 17,981
Balance at October 31, 2006 32,156,162 § 3216 $523486 s In 3 (31,425) § 495448

See accompanyving notes.




MARTEK BIOSCIENCES CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Year ended Qctober 31,
In thousands 2006 2005 2004
Operating activities
Net inncome £ 17,810 $ 15284 $ 47,048
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by {used in) operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 17,149 16,494 8,687
Provision for inventory obsolescence 500 2.000 500
Deferred tax provision {benefit) 10,238 8,786 (25,176)
Equity-based compensation expense 3272 — —
Incremental tax benefit from exercise of non-qualified stock options (1.587) -— —
Loss from disposal and write-down of assets and other 2,845 1,131 169
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable (5,143} 9,689 (17,128}
Inventories ‘ (20,804) (63.156) (15,525
Other assets (4,393) 1,413 1,324
Accounts payable 5,002 (10,303) 9,150
Accrued labilities 8,527 2,947 1,552
Deferred revenue and other liabilities 2,205 (1,429) (511
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 35,622 (17,144) 10,099
Investing activities
Sale (purchase) of short-term investimenis and marketable securities, net 11,050 {9,095) 53,842
Expenditures for property, plant and equipment (10,902) (57,181) (180,409)
(Repurchase) proceeds from sale-leaseback transaction and other (6,877} 4272 10,895
Capitalization of intangibte and other assels (6.862) {4,989} (9,383}
Net cash used in investing activities (13,591) (66,993) (125,055}
Financing activities
Repayments of notes payable and other long-term obligations (3,009} (4,875) (2,748)
(Repayments) borrowings under revolving credit facility, net (19,000} {30,000) 85,000
Proceeds from the issuance of common stock, net of issuance Cosis — 81.444 11,290
Proceeds from the exercise of stock options and warrants 2922 18,670 20,944
{ncremental tax benefit from exercise of non-qualified stock options 1,587 — —
Other — 500 —
Net cash (used in} provided by financing activities (17,500} 65,739 114,486
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 4,531 (18,398) (479)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 11,047 29,445 29,924
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 15,578 S 11,047 § 29,445
Supplemental cash flow disclosures:
Interest paid $ 3625 g 3528 $ 2,084
Income taxes paid $ 280 b — $ —
Notes payable issued in acquisition of land 3 — s 800 s —
3 — s — $ 6,000

Purchase of DSM license through long-term obligation

See accompanying notes.




NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. ORGANIZATION AND DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS

Martek Biosciences Corporation (the "Company" or "Martek"), a Delaware corporation, was founded in 1985. The Company develops, manufactures
and sells naturally produced products derived from microalgae, fungi and other microbes. The Company's preducts and services include: (1) specialty,
nutritional oils for infant formula, dietary supplements and food and beverage fortification ingredients, (2} contract manufacturing services and (3)
fluorescent marker products for diagnostics, rapid miniaturized screening and gene and protein detection.

Martek's nutritional oils are comprised of fatty acid components, primarily docosahexaenoic acid, commonly known as DHA, and arachidonic acid,
commonly known as ARA. Many researchers believe that these fatty acids may enhance mental and visual development in infants and play a pivotal
role in brain function throughout life. Low levels of DHA in adults have also been linked to a variety of health risks, including cardiovascular
problems and various neurological and visual disorders. Additional research is underway to assess what impact, if any, supplementation with the
Company's DHA will have on these health risks. Martek's fluorescent detection products and technologies aid researchers in drug discovery and
diagnostics.

Martek also provides contract manufacturing services. These services are for both large and small companies and relate primarily to the production of
enzymes, specialty chemicals, vitamins, agricultural specialties and intermediates.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of Presentation The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Martek and its wholly-owned subsidiaries, Martek Biosciences
Boulder Corporation (“*Martek Boulder™) and Martck Biosciences Kingstree Corporation ("Manek Kingstree"), (collectively, "the Company™) afier
elimination of all significant intercompany balances and transactions. In the opinion of management, alt adjustments {consisting of normal recurring
adjustments} considered necessary for a fair presentation have been included.

Use of Estimates The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States (“U.S. generally accepted accounting principles”) requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in
the Company's consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. On an ongeing basis, the Company evaluates its estimates and judgments,
which are based on historical and anticipated results and trends and on various other assumptions that the Company believes to be reasonable under
the circumstances. By their nature, estimates are subject to an inherent degree of uncertainty and, as such, actual results may differ from the
Company's estimates.

Segment Information The Company currently operates in one material business segment, the development and commercialization of novel products
from microalgae, fungi and other microbes. The Company is managed and operated as one business. The entire business is comprehensively
managed by a single management team that reports to the Chief Executive Officer. The Company does not operate any material separate lines of
business or separate business entities with respect to its products or product candidates. Accordingly, the Company does not have separately
reportable segments as defined by Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS™) No. 131, "Disclesures about Segments of an Enterprise
and Related Information."

Revenue Recognition The Company derives revenue principally from two sources: product sales and contract manufacturing. The Company
recognizes product sales revenue when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, the fee is fixed or determinable, collectibility is probable and
the product is shipped thereby transferring title and risk of loss. Typical infant formula license contracts include an upfront license fee, a prepayment
of product sales and established pricing on future product sales, which also may include discounts based on the achievement of certain volume
purchases. In accordance with Emerging [ssues Task Force No. 00-21, "Revenue Amangements with Multiple Deliverables" ("EITF No. 00-21"), the
consideration from these contracts is allocated based on the relative fair values of the separate elements. Revenue is recognized on product sales when
goods are shipped and all other conditions for revenue recognition are met. If volume pricing discounts are deemed to be a separate element, revenue
on related product shipments is recognized using the estimated average price to the customer. Once the reguisite volume thresholds have been
satisfied, the previously recorded deferred revenue is recognized over the remaining discount period. Cash received as a prepayment on future
product purchases is deferred and recognized as revenue when product is shipped. Revenue from product licenses is deferred and recognized on a
straight-line basis over the term of the agreement. Royalty income is recorded when earned, based on information provided by the Company's
licensees. Royalty income was approximately $3.6 million, $2.4 million and $2.2 million in fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively, and is included
in product sales revenue in the consolidated statements of income.

Contract manufacturing revenue is recognized when goods are shipped to customers and all other conditions for revenue recognition are met. Cash
received that is related to future performance under such contracts is deferred and recognized as revenue when earned.

Shipping Income and Costs The Company accounts for income and costs related to shipping activities in accordance with the Emerging Issues Task
Force 1ssue No, 00-10, “Accounting for Shipping and Handling Revenues and Costs.” Shipping costs charged to customers are recorded as revenue in
the period that the related product sale revenue is recorded, and associated costs of shipping are included in cost of product sales,
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Foreign Currency Transactions and Hedging Activities Foreign currency transactions are translated into ULS. dollars at prevailing rates. Gains or
losses tesulting from foreign currency wransactions are included in current period income o loss as incurred. All material transactions of the Company
are denominated in U.S. dollars with the exeeption of certain purchases of ARA from DSM Food Speciaities' B.V. ("DSM"), which are denominated
in euros,

The Company has entered into foreign currency forward contracts to reduce its transactional foreign currency eXposures associated with the purchases
of ARA from DSM. The Company does not use derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes. These forward contracts have been
designated as highly effective cash flow hedges and thus, qualify for hedge accounting under the provisions of SFAS No. 133, "Accounting for
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities." As of October 31, 2006. outstanding forward contracts had notional values aggregating
approximately 9.8 million euros (equivalent to $12.5 million at October 31, 2006). The resulting unrealized gains and losses are recorded as a
component of other comprehensive income. These contracts effectively fix our exchange rate between the U.S. dollar and the euro for periods
ranging from 3010 120 days.

Rescarch and Development Research and development costs are charged to operations as incurred and include internal labor, materials and overhead
costs associated with the Company’s ongoing research and development activity and third-party costs for contracted work as well as ongoing chinical
trials costs.

Advertising Advertising costs are expensed as incurred. Advertising costs were approximately $1,000,000 in each of fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004.

Other Operating Expenses Other operating expenses relate primarily to production start-up costs, including materials, training and other such costs,

incurred in connection with the expansion of the Company’'s internal manufacturing operations, costs incurred in connection with qualification of
certain third-party manufacturers, and amounts related to the Winchester wastewater treatment matter. All such costs are expensed as incurred.

Deferred Income Taxes Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on temporary differences between the financial reporting bases and
the tax bases of assets and liabilities. Deferred tax assets are also recognized for tax net operating loss carryforwards. These deferred tax assets and
liabilities are measured using the enacted tax rates and laws that are expected to be in effect when such amounts are projected to reverse or be utilized.
The realization of total deferred tax assets is contingent upon the generation of future taxable income. Valuation allowances are provided to reduce
such deferred tax assets to amounts more likely than not to be ultimately realized.

Equity-Based Compensation Priof 1o November 1, 2005, the Company accounted for its equity-based compensation plans under the recognition and
measurement provisions of Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25. “Accounting for Stock lssued to Employees” ("APB 257). and related
interpretations. as permitted by SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation™ (“SFAS 123"). Effective November 1. 2005, the
Company adopted the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123 (revised 2004), “Share-Based Payment” (“SFAS 123R”), using the
modified prospective transition method. Under the modified prospective transition methed, compensation cost recognized in fiscal 2006 includes:
(a) compensation cost for all equity-based payments granted prior to but not yet vested as of November 1, 2005, based on the grant date fair value
estimated in accordance with the original provisions of SFAS 123 and (b) compensation cost for all equity-based payments granted subsequent 1o
November 1, 2005, based on the grant date fair value estimated in accordance with the provisions of SFAS 123R.

Net Income Per Share Basic net income per share is computed using the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding during the
period. Diluted net income per share is computed using the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding, giving effect to stock
options and warrants using the treasury stock method (see Note 14).

Comprehensive Income Comprehensive income is comptised of net earnings and other comprehensive income, which includes certain changes in
equity that are excluded from net income. The Company includes unrealized holding gains and losses on available-for-sale securities, if any, as well
as changes in the market value of exchange rate forward contracts in other comprehensive income in the Consolidated Statements of Stockholders'
Equity.

Casir and Cash Equivalents Cash equivalents consist of highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less.

Short-Term Investments and Marketable Secarities The Company has classified all short-term investments and marketable securities as
available-for-sate. Unrealized gains and losses on these securities, if any, are reported as accumulated other comprehensive income, which is a
separate component of stockholders' equity. Realized gains and losses are included in other income based on the specific identification method.

The Company periodically evaluates whether any declines in the fair value of investments are other than temporary. This evaluation consists of a
review of several factors, including, but not limited to: length of time and extent that a security has been in an unrealized loss position; the existence
of an cvent that would impair the issucr’s future earnings potential; the near term prospects for recovery of the market value of a security: and the
intent and ability of the Company 10 hold the security until the market value recovers. Declines in value below cost for debt securities where it is
considercd probable that all contractual terms of the security will be satisfied, where the decline is due primarily to changes in interest rates {and not
because of increased credit risk}, and where the Company intends and has the ability to hold the investment for a period of time sufficient to allow a
market recovery. are not assumed to be other than temporary. If management determines that such an impairment exists, the carrying value of the
investment will be reduced to the current fair value of the investment and the Company will recognize a charge in the consolidated statements of
income equal to the amount of the carrying value reduction.

At October 31, 2006 and 2005, the Company's short-term investments consisted primarily of auction rate debt securities issued by state and local
govemmenl-sponsorcd agencies. The Company's investments in these securities are recorded at cost which approximates market value due to their
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variable interest rates that reset approximately every 30 days. The underlying maturities of these investments range from 15 to 40 years, Despite the
long-term nature of their stated contractual manurities, there is a readily liquid market for these securities and, therefore, these securities have been
classified as short-term.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments The Company considers the recorded cost of its financial assets and Habilities, which consist primarily of cash
and cash equivalents, short-term investments and marketable securities, accounts receivable, accounts payable, notes payable and long-term debt, to
approximate the fair value of the respective assets and habilities at October 31, 2006 and 2005.

Trade Receivables Trade receivables are reported in the consolidated balance sheets at cutstanding principal less any allowance for doubtful
accounts. The Company writes off uncollectible receivables against the allowance for doubtful accounts when the likelihood of collection is remote.
The Company may extend credit terms up to 50 days and considers receivables past due if not paid by the due date. The Company performs ongoing
credit evaluations of its customers and extends credit without requiring collateral. The Company maintains an allowance for doubtful accounts, which
is determined based on historical experience, existing economic conditions and management's expectations of losses. The Company analyzes
historical bad debts, customer concentrations, customer creditworthiness and current economic trends when evaluating the adequacy of the allowance
for doubtful accounts. Losses have historically been within management's expectations. The allowance for doubtful accounts was approximately
$40,000 and $100,000 as of October 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Concentration of Credit Risk and Significant Customers Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk
consist principally of accounts receivable. Concentrations of credit risk with respect to accounts receivable are present due to the small number of
customers comprising the Company's customer base. However, the credit risk is reduced through the Company's efforts 10 monitor its exposure for
credit losses and by maintaining allowances, if necessary. Four customers accounted for approximately 83%, 88% and 90% of the Company's
product sales in fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. At October 31, 2006 and 2003, four customers accounted for approximately 70% and 77%,
respectively, of the Company’s outstanding accounts receivable balance. Included in these amounts, one of the Company's customers accounted for
approximately 45%, 49% and 55% of total product sales in fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively, and represented 43% and 55% of the Company's
outstanding accounts receivable balance at October 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively. Approximately 60% of the Company's sales were to domestic
customers in fiscal 2006 and approximately two-thirds of the Company's sales were to domestic customers in each of fiscal 2005 and 2004,

Inventories Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market and include appropriate elements of material, labor and indirect costs. Inventories are
valued using a weighted average approach that approximates the first-in, first-out method. The Company analyzes both historical and projected sales
volumes and, when needed, reserves for inventory that is either obsolete, slow moving or impaired. Abnormal amounts of inventery costs related to,
among other things, idle facilities, freight handling and waste material expenses are recognized as period charges and expensed as incurred.

Property, Plant and Equipment Property, plant and equipment, including leasehold improvements, is stated at cost and depreciated or amortized
when placed into service using the straight-line method, based on useful lives as follows:;

Asset Description Useful Life (years)
Building 15-30
Fermentation equipment 10-20

Qil processing equipment 10-20
Other machinery and equipment 5-10
Fumniture and fixtures 5-7
Computer hardware and software 3-7

Leaseheld improvements are amortized over the shorter of the useful life of the asset or the lease term, including renewals when probable. Costs for
capital assets not yet available for commercial use have been capitalized as construction in progress and will be depreciated in accordance with the
above guidelines once placed into service. Assets classified as "held for future use" are not depreciated until they are placed in or returned to
productive service. Costs for repairs and maintenance are expensed as incurred.

Patent Costs The Company has filed a number of patent applications in the U.S. and in foreign countries. Legal and related costs incurred in
connection with pending patent applications have been capitalized. Costs related to patent applications are amortized over the life of the patent, if
successful, or charged to operations upon denial or in the period during which a determination not to further pursue such application is made. The
Company has also capitalized external legal costs incurred in the defense of its patents when it is believed that the future economic benefit of the
patent will be increased and a successful defense is probable. Capitalized patent defense costs are amortized over the remaining life of the related
patent.

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets The Company recorded goodwill and purchased intangible assets in its acquisition of OmegaTech in April,
2002 and goodwill in its acquisition of FermPro in September 2003. The goodwill acquired in the OmegaTech and FermPro acquisitions is subject to
the provisions of SFAS No. 142, "Goodwiil and Other Intangible Assets” ("SFAS 142", and, accordingly, is not being amortized. In accordance with
SFAS 142, goodwill is tested for impairment on an annual basis and between annual tests in certain circumstances, and written down when impaired.
Furthermore, SFAS 142 requires purchased intangible assets other than goodwill to be amortized over their useful lives unless these lives are
determined to be indefinite. Purchased intangible assets and patents are carried at cost less accumulated amortization. Amortization is computed over
the estimated useful lives of the respective assets, generally ten to seventeen years (see Note 8).
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Impairment of Long-Lived Assets In accordance with SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets” ("SFAS
144™), the Company reviews long-lived assets and certain identifiable intangibles for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Recoverability of assets 1o be held and used is measured by a camparison of the
carrying amount of an asset 10 future undiscounted net cash flows expected 1o be generated by the asset, Recoverability measurement and estimating
of undiscounted cash flows is done at the lowest possible level for which there is identifiable assets. 1f such assets are considered to be impaired, the
impairment to be recognized is measured by the amount by which the carrying amount of assets exceeds the fair value of the assets. Assets to be

disposed of are reported at the lower of the carrying amount of fair value less costs to sell.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements 1n July 2006, the Financia! Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued FASB Interpretation No.
48. "Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes—an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109" ("FIN 48"), which clarifies the accounting and
disclosure for uncertain income tax positions, as defined. FIN 48 seeks to reduce the diversity in practice associated with certain aspects of the -
recognition and measurement related to accounting for income taxes. This interpretation will be effective for the fiscal year beginning November 1,
2007. The Company is currently assessing the effect of adopting FIN 48 on its consolidated financial position and results of operations.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements” (*SFAS 1577). SFAS 157 provides guidance for using fair value to
measure assets and liabilities. 1t also responds to investors’ requests for expanded information about the extent to which companies measure assets
and liabilities at fair value, the information used to measure fair value and the effect of fair value measurements on earnings. SFAS 157 applies
whencver other standards require (o1 permit} assets or liabilities to be measured at fair value, and does not expand the use of fair value in any new
circumstances. SFAS 157 is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after November 15. 2007. The Company is currently
evaluating the effect that the adoption of SFAS 157 will have on its consolidated financial position and results of operations.

3. EQUITY-BASED COMPENSATION

Prior to November 1, 2005, the Company accounted for its equity-based compensation plans under the recognition and measurement provisions of
APB 25. and related interpretations, as permitted by SFAS 123. Effective November 1, 2005, the Company adopted the fair value recognition

provisions of SFAS 123R, using the modified prospective transition method. Under the modified prospective transition method, compensation cost
recognized in fiscal 2006 includes: (a) compensation cost for all equity-based payments granted prior to but not yet vested as of November 1, 2005,
based on the grant date fair value estimated in accordance with the original provisions of SFAS 123 and (b) compensation cost for all equity-based

payments granted subsequent to November 1, 2005, based on the grant date fair value estimated in accordance with the provisions of SFAS 123R.
Results for prior periods have not been restated.

As a result of adopting SFAS 123R on November 1. 2005, the Company's income before income taxes and net income for the year ended October 31,
2006 were $3.3 million and $2.1 million lower, respectively, than if the Company had continued to account for equity-based compensation under
APB 25. Basic and diluted earnings per share for the year ended October 31, 2006 were each $0.06 lower than if the Company had continued 1o
account for equity-based compensation under APB 25.

The following table (in thousands, except per share amounts) illustrates the effect on net income and net income per share as if the Company had
applied the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS 123 to equity-based compensation for the years ended October 31, 2005 and 2004. The reported
and pro forma net income and net income per share for the year ended October 31, 2006 are the same because equity-based compensation is calculated
under the provisions of SFAS 123R. The amounts for the year ended Octaber 31, 2006 are included in the following table only to provide net income
and net income per share for a comparative presentation to the petiods of the previous years. The pro forma disclosure for the years ended QOctober 31,
2005 and 2004 utilized the Black-Scholes-Merton option-pricing formula to estimate the value of the respective options with such value amortized to
expense over the options’ vesting periods.

Year ended October 31,

2006 2005 2004
Net income, as reported $ 17,811 $ 15284 $ 47,048
Deduct: Total equity-based employee compensation expense
determined under fair value-based methods for all awards — 558.349) ( 17.920)

Pro forma net income (loss} $ 17,811 3!43,065) $ 29,128
Net income (loss) per share:

Basic — as reported § 0355 § 049 s 162
Basic - pro forma $  0.55 $_{ 1.38) $  LOO
Diluted - as reported $ 055 $ 048 $ 1.5
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In December 2004 and January and May 2005, the Company modified the terms of certain cutstanding and unvested stock options whose exercise
prices were greater than Martek’s closing stock price on the modification dates. Total modifications served to immediately vest approximately 1.2
million unvested stock options. The accelerations enabled the Company to avoid recording approximately $27 million of compensatien cost that
would have been required te be recognized under SFAS 123R.

The Company has utilized the Black-Scholes-Merton valuation model for estimating the fair value of the stock options granted during the year ended
October 31, 2006, as well as for option grants during all prior periods. As follows are the weighted average assumptions used in valuing the stock
options granted during the years ended October 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, and a discussion of the Company’s methodology for developing each of the
assumptions used:

Year ended October 31,
2006 2005 2004
Expected volatility 61.1% 62.7% 78.9%
Risk-free interest rate 4.7% 3.9% 3.9%
Expected life of options 5 years 5 years 5 years
Expected dividend yield 0% 0% 0%
Forfeiture rate 1% 2% 2%

Expected Volatility — Volatility is a measure of the amount by which a financial variable such as a share price has fluctuated (historical volatility) or
is expected to fluctuate (expected volatility) during a period. The Company uses the histerical volatility over the preceding five-year period to
estimate expected volatility. Since fiscal 2001, the Company’s annual volatility has ranged from 61.1% to 78.9% with an average of 68.1%.

Risk-Free Interest Rate — This is the average U.S. Treasury rate (having a term that most closely resembles the expected life of the option) for the
quarter in which the option was granted.

Expected Life of Options — This is the period of time that the options granted are expected to remain outstanding. This estimate is based primarily on
historical exercise data. Options granted during the years ended October 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 have a maximum term of ten years.

Expected Dividend Yield — The Company has never declared or paid dividends on its common stock and does not anticipate paying any dividends in
the foreseeable future.

Forfeiture Rare — This is the estimated percentage of options granted that are expected to be forfeited or cancelled on an annual basis before becoming
fully vested. The Company estimates the forfeiture rate based on past turnover data with further consideration given to the level of the employees to
whom the options were granted.

As of October 31, 2006, the Company had several equity-based compensation plans, which are described below. The compensation cost that has been
charged against income for those plans for the year ended October 31, 2006 was approximately $3.3 million, The total income tax benefit recognized
in the income statement for equity-based compensation arrangements was approximately $1.2 million in the year ended October 31, 2006,
Compensation cost capitalized as part of inventory during the year ended October 31, 2006 was approximatety $500,000. For stock subject to graded
vesting, the Company has utilized the “straight-line” method for aflocating compensation cost by period.

Stock Option Plans

As of October 31, 2006, the Company had stock options outstanding that were previously granted under the Company's 1986 Stock Option Plan, the
1994 Directors’ Option Plan, the 1997 Stock Option Plan, the 2001 Stock Option Plan, the 2002 Stock Incentive Plan, the 2003 New Employee Stock
Option Plan and the 2004 Stock Incentive Plan, collectively referred to as the "Option Plans." With exception of the 1994 Directors” Option Plan,
option awards under the Option Plans are granted at prices as determined by the Compensation Committee, but shall not be less than the fair market
value of the Company’s common stock on the date of grant. Stock options granted include both qualified and non-qualified options and vest over a
period of up to five years and have a maximum term of ten years from the date of grant. At Gctober 31, 2006, approximately 1.3 million shares of
common stock were available for future grants under the Option Plans.

As result of the Company's purchase of OmegaTech in 2002, the Company assumed 54,589 options from the OmegaTech, Inc. 1996 Stock Option
Plan ("OmegaTech Plan"). No new options may be issued under this plan as of the date of the purchase. Under the OmegaTech Plan, exercise prices
were determined by the Compensation Committee, but at an exercise price not less than the fair market value of OmegaTech's common stock on the
date of grant. Stock options granted include both qualified and non-qualified options and were all 100% vested as of the purchase date. The 2003 New
Employee Stock Option Plan ("2003 Plan") was adopted in conjunction with the acquisition of FermPro in 2003.




A summary of option activity under the Option Plans as of October 31, 2006 and changes during the three years then ended are as follows (shares and
intrinsic value in thousands):

Weighted Average

Remaining

Number of Weighted Average Aggregate Contractual

Shares Price/Share Intrinsic Value Term (years)
Options outstanding at October 31, 2003 4,294 ) 2255
Options exercisable at October 31, 2003 2514 s 18.45
— ——————
(ranted 1,067 $ 39.60
Exercised (1.240) $ 16.39
Cancelled (7h S 36.39
Options outstanding st October 31, 2004 4,050 $ 3391
Options excrcisable at October 31, 2004 2,138 5 26.33
[P e ——
Granked 700 $ 48.69
Exercised (779) g 23.98
Cancelled 47N $ 44.79
Options outstanding at October 31, 2005 3924 s 38.39
Options exercisable at Octeber 31, 2005 3438 § 40.14
Granted 59 $ 31T
Exercised (98) g 24.92
Cancelled (71 3 40.21

Options outstanding at October 31, 2006 3,714 s 38.56 $ 6,483 6.2

Options exercisable at October 31, 2006 3.466 5 39.32 5 6,049 6.2

Detailed information on the options outstanding under the Option Plans on October 31, 2006 by price range is set forth as follows:

OPTIONS OUTSTANDING OPTIONS EXERCISABLE
Weighted
Average Weighted Weighted
Remaining Average Average
Range of Options Contractual Exercise Options Exercise
Exercise Prices Outstanding Life Price Exercisable Price
(years)
$625- $9.37 32,675 25 $ 7.35 32,675 § 7.35
$9.38~ 51407 128,529 33 $ 1184 128,529 $ 11.84
$14.08 - $21.12 602,839 4.2 $ 1648 537,129 $ 1639
$21.13 - $31.69 1.151,962 6.0 § 27.68 1,046,994 $ 27.85
$31.70 - $47.55 170.075 7.8 $ 3940 115,635 § 41.78
$47.56 — $68.08 1,628,369 7.2 $ 57.07 1,605,369 § 57.13
3,714,449 6.2 $ 3856 3,466,331 $ 3932

The weighted average fair market value of the options at the date of grant for options granted during the years ended October 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004
was $17.84. $28.59 and $39.21, respectively. The total intrinsic value of stock options exercised during the year ended October 31, 2006 was
approximately $600.000.
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As of October 31, 2006, there was $2.3 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested stock options granted under the Option
Plans. The cost is expected to be recognized through fiscal 2011 with a weighted average recognition period of approximately one year.

4. DSM SUPPLY AND LICENSE AGREEMENT

In April 2004, the Company entered into an agreement with DSM extending the existing relationship between the two companies involving the
production and supply of ARA, one of the Company's nutritional oils that it sells to its infant formula licensees. Among other things, this agreement
provides for the grant to the Company by DSM of a license related to certain technologies asseciated with the manufacture of ARA. This grant
involved a license fee totaling $10 million, which is being amortized over the 15-year term of the agreement using the straight-line method. In
February 2006, the Company and DSM entered into an amendment to the original agreement (“the Amendment”™). The Amendment served to provide
certain clarifying and updating language to the original agreement and 1o establish the overall economics associated with DSM's expansion at both its
Belvidere, New Jersey and Capua, ltaly production facilities. Martek guaranteed the recovery of certain costs incurred by DSM in connection with
these expansions, up 1o $40 million. with such amount being reduced annually through December 31, 2008 (the "Recoupment Peried"} based upon
ARA purchases by us in excess of specified minimum thresholds. As of October 31, 2006, the guarantee amount has been reduced 1o approximately
$25.0 million. The guarantee amount payable, if any, at the end of the Recoupment Period, must be paid by January 31, 2009. The amount paid, if any,
will be credited against a portion of DSM invoices for purchases made after the Recoupment Period. Annual ARA unit pricing under the agreement
with DSM utilizes a cost-plus approach that is based on the prior year's actual costs incurred adjusted for current year volume and cost expectations.
Calendar 2006 ARA purchases have been valued by us based on amounis and unit prices invoiced by DSM. Certain issues, however, still need to be
resolved in order to finalize 2006 ARA pricing. Absent a favorable resolution to us, the recorded cost of ARA will approximate, in all material
respects, the agreed-upon amounts when negotiations with DSM are complete.

5. SHORT-TERM INVESTMENTS AND MARKETABLE SECURITIES

The Company has classified all short-term investments and marketable securities as available-for-sale. Available-for-sale securities are carried at fair
value, based on specific identification. Unrealized gains and losses on these securities, if any, are reported as accumulated other comprehensive
income, which is a separate component of stockholders' equity. The Company's available-for-sale securittes consist primarily of taxable municipal

auction rate securities, and totaled $11.3 million and $22.3 millien as of October 31, 2006 and October 31, 2005, respectively. There were no
unrealized holding gains or losses or realized gains or losses during the years ended Qctober 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004,

6. INVENTORIES

[nventories consist of the following (in thousands):

October 31,
2006 2005
Finished goods S 43,928 $34,328
Work in process 66,968 55,073
Raw materials 3,024 3,634
Total inventories 113,920 93,035
Less: inventory reserve (1,600) (1,500)
Total inventories, net 112,320 91,535
Less: long-term portion (12,0000 —
Inventories, net $ 100,320 591,535

Idie capacity costs totaled $9.6 million for the year ended October 31, 2006 and related primarily to certain fixed costs associated with the
underutilized portion of the Company's Kingstree, South Carolina production plant. See Note 11 for a discussion of the Company's restructuring of
plant operations in October 2006,




7. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Property. plant and equipment consist of the following (in thousands):

Qctober 31,
2006 2008
Land $ 2,320 $ 2318
Building and improvements 53,177 45,515
Machinery and equipment 152,635 164,039
Fumiture and fixtures 2.716 3,161
Computer hardware and software 8,602 8,085
219,450 223,118
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization (29,674} (26.764)
189,776 196,354
Construction in progfess 10.984 56,840
Assets held for future use, net 90,685 37,539
Property, plant and equipment, net $ 291,445 $ 290,731

Depreciation and amortization expense on property, plant and equipment totaled approximately $14.3 million,

years ended October 31. 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

Assets held for future use are comprised of ecrtain production assets that are not expected (o be utilized in the manufacturing pro

least six months. See Note 11 for discussion of assets being held for sale.

8. GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

[ntangible assets and related accumulated amortization consist of the following (in thousands):

October 31, 2006

October 31, 2005

$14.0 million and $6.8 million for the

cess for a period of at

Accumulated Accumulated
Intangible Asset Gross Amortization Net Gross Amortization Net
Trademarks $ 2,053 $ (545 § 1.508 § 2026 $  (d0h $ 1,625
Patents 19,233 (1.835) 17,398 11,741 (1.738) 10,007
Core technology 1.708 (455) 1.253 1,708 (342) 1,366
Current products 10,676 (3.228) 7.448 10,676 (2,516) 8,160
Licenses 11,091 (1,870) 9.221 11,091 (1.1200 9,971
Goodwill 48,603 — 48,603 48,490 — 48.490
$ 93,364 §_(7.933) $ 85,431 $ 85732 $ (6,113) § 79,619

Core technology and current products relate to the value assigned to the products purchased as part of the OmegaTe
Company recorded amortization expense on intangible assets of approximately $2.8 million. $2.5 million and $1.9

October 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.
expense for each of the succeeding five years will be approximately $3.2 million.

The Company recorded patent amortization expense of approximately $1.1 million, $800,000 and

2005 and 2004, respectively.

Based on the current amount of intangible assets subject 10 amortization,

ch acquisition in fiscal 2002. The
million during the years ended
the estimated amortization

$600.000 in the years ended October 31, 2006,




9. ACCRUED LIABILITIES

Accrued liabilities consist of the following (in thousands):

October 31,
2006 2005
Salaries and employee benefits $ 12328 S 124
Inventory receipt obligations 3.094 1,544
Other 8.676 4,934
5 24,098 513692

10. NOTES PAYABLE AND LONG-TERM DEBT

In September 2005, the Company entered into a $135 million secured revolving credit facility that amended and expanded the $100 million credit
facility entered into in May 2004. The revolving credit facility is collateralized by accounts receivable, inventory and all capital stock of the
Company’s subsidiaries and expires in September 2010. The weighted average interest rate on amounts outstanding under the credit facility was
approximately 6.4%. 4.9% and 3.5% for the years ended October 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively, and the weighied average commitment fee
rate on unused amounts was approximately 0.2%, 0.3% and 0.3% for the years ended October 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. Both the
interest and commitment fee rates are based on LIBOR and the Company's current leverage ratio. Among other things, the credit Tacility agreement
contains restrictions on future debt, the payment of dividends and the further encumbrance of assets, In addition, the credit facility requires that the
Company comply with specified financial ratios and tests, including minimum coverage ratios and maximum leverage ratios. As of October 3 I, 2006,
the Company was in compliance with all of these debt covenants and had outstanding borrowings of $36 million under the revolving credit facility.
All borrowings are due at maturity,

In connection with the purchase of certain assets and the assumption of certain liabilities of FermPro in fiscal 2003, the Company assurned a
$10 millien secured note. The note was amended in January 2004 and is now an unsecured obligation of the Company with a maturity date of
December 31, 2008. The note has a stated interest rate of 5% and principal is amortized over a 20-year period with the balance due at maturity.

The annual maturities of the Company’s notes payable and long-term debt at October 3] - 2006 are summarized as follows {in thousands):

Fiscal Year

2007 5 670
2008 686
2009 7,777
2010 183
2011 100
Subsequent to 2011 626

The carrying amounts of notes payable and long-term debt under the revolving credit facility at October 31,2006 and 2005 approximate their fair
values based on instruments of similar terms available to the Company.

11, RESTRUCTURING CHARGE

In October 2006, the Company restructured its plant operations following a review of production and cost structure. Under the restructuring, a
substantial portion of production previously taking place at the Winchester, Kentucky manufacturing facility was transferred to the Kingstree, South
Carolina manufacturing facility. The restructuring is expected to reduce manufacturing costs and operating expenses due to improved overall
manufacturing efficiency and a reduction in the Company's workforce at the Winchester site,
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As a result of the restructuring, a charge of approximately $4.7 million was recorded in fiscal 2006. This charge includes employee separation Costs
of 2.0 million. a write-down of certain assets of $2.6 million and professional fees of $100.000. Emplayee separation costs include salary
continuation, severance, medical and other benefits. The recorded asset write-down relates primarily to certain assets which formerly supported
Winchester production and which are now being held for sale. The resulting net book value of these assets included in the Company's consolidated
financial statements is approximately $200,000 at October 31, 2006, which represents their estimated fair market value less costs to sell. The
Company anticipates incurring approximately $500.000 of additional restructuring costs in fiscal 2007 related to employee separation costs.

The following table summarizes the activity related to the restructuring charge and liability for restructuring costs (in thousands):

Employee
Scparation Asset
Costs Write-down Other Total
Initial charge in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2006 5 2032 8 2568 5 129 8§ 4,729
Cash payments (60) -— (5%) (115)
Asset writc-down — (2.568) — (2.568)
Liability for restructuring costs at October 31, 2006 g 1972 § — 3 74 S 2.046

12. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Leases The Company leases its Columbia, Maryland premises under an operating lease. in May 2004, the Company amended its existing lease {or
laboratory and administrative space at the Columbia, Maryland office to extend the term of the lease as well as expand the Company's leased space by
approximately 15%. In fiscal 2006. the Company expanded its Columbia leased space by an additional 20%. The leases expire in January 2011. The
terms of the lease include annual rent escalations of 2.5%.

The Company also leases its premises in Boulder, Colorado under an operating lease that expires in May 2008. The terms of the lease include annual
rent escalations of 3.5%. Additionally, the Company leases certain propetty classified as operating leases at its Winchester, Kentucky and Kingstree,
South Carolina manufacturing facilities and its Boulder offices.

Rent expense was approximately £5.0 million. $4.0 million and 31.6 million for the years ended October 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. The
Company received sublease income of approximately $100.000 for the year ended October 31, 2004 for office and lab space that it had previously
subleased in Columbia, Maryland.

Future minimum lease payments under operating leases al October 31, 2006 are as follows (in thousands):

Fiscal Year

2007 S 1,013
2008 997
2009 898
2010 913
2011 257
After 2011 342

$ 4,422
(S Sl

Scientific Research Collaborations The Company has entered into various collaborative research and license agreements for its non-nutritional algal
technology. Under these agreements, the Company is required to fund research or to collaborate on the development of potential products. Centain of
thesc agreements also commit the Company to pay royalties upon the sale of certain products resulting from such collaborations. Martek incurred
approximately $100,000 in each of fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004 in royalties under such agreements pertaining to the Company's fluorescent detection
products.

in December 2003, the Company entered into a collaboration agreement with a Canadian biotechnology company 1o co-develop DHA products from
plants. This arangement included the reimbursement of expenses incurred by the co-collaborator as well as the payment by the Company of
potential royalties and additional milestone payment amounts if certain scientific results were achieved in the future. In January 2007, an amendment
to this agreement was exccuted. Pursuant to the amendment, the co-collaborator will continue its research and development until June 2007, with
expenses to be reimbursed by the Company through April 2007. Furthermore, the Company acquired exclusive license rights to the plant-based DHA
technology developed by the co-collaborator for a period of at least 16 years. As consideration for this exclusive license. the Company will make a
license payment of $750.000, with additional payments of up to $750,000 due in certain circumstances, subject to minimum royalties of 1.5% of gross
margin, as defined, if Martek ultimately commercializes plant-based DHA using any technology. During the term of the license. the Company may
be required to pay additiona! royaities of up to 6.0% of gross margin, as defined, on sales of products in the future which utilize certain licensed

48




technologies. At the amendment date, the respective milestones provided for in the ori

ginal agreement had not been achieved, and no milestone
payments specified in the original agreement have been or will be made.,

Purchase Commitments The Company has entered into an agreement to purchase from a third-party manufacturer a minimum quantity of extraction

services to be utilized in ARA production. The commitment expires on December 31, 2008. As of October 31, 2006, the Company's remaining
obligation was approximately $10.2 million.

OmegaTech Milestone In April 2002, the Company completed its acquisition of OmegaTech, Inc. (“OmegaTech™), a DHA producer located in
Boulder, Colorade, In connection with the purchase, the Company issued 1,765,728 shares of the Company's common stock in exchange for all of the
outstanding capital stock of OmegaTech. The aggregate purchase price for OmepaTech was approximately $54.1 million. The purchase agreement
also provided for additional stock consideration of up to $40 million, subject to certain pricing adjustments, if four milestones are met. Twe of these
milestones relate 1o operating results and two relate to regulatory and labeling approvals in the U S, and Europe. In June 2003, the conditions of one
of the regulatory milestones were met, and accordingly, approximately 358,566 shares of Martek common stock, valued at approximately $14.2
miilion, were issued. The Payment of this additional consideration was recorded as goodwill,
As of October 31, 2006, the Company does not believe the second regulatory milestone has been achieved. In addition, the Comp
that either financial milestone has been achieved. The representative of the former OmegaTech stockholders has advised us that
common stock issuable with respect to the second regulatory milestone and one of the financial milestones should be issued. Ma
that conclusion. The parties are currently involved in litigation to resolve this dispute with respect to the second re
Martek commeon stock that may be issued relating 10 the three rematning milestones is subject to a formula that is
ofthe Company's stock on the dates that the individual milestones are determined to have been achieved
contingent consideration paid related to these milestones would be recorded as goodwiil.

any does not belicve
he believes that the

Patent Infringement Litigation in September 2003, the Company filed a patent infringement lawsuit in the U.S. District Court in Delaware against
Nutrinova Nutrition Specialties & Food Ingredients GmbH (Nutrinova) and others alleging infringement of certain of our 1 S, patents. [n December
2005, Nutrinova's DHA business was sold to Lonza Group LTD, a Swiss chemical and biotechnology group, and the parties agreed to add Lonza 1o
the U.S. lawsuit. In October 2006. the infringement action in the United States was tried, and a verdict favorable to Martek was returned. The jury
found that Lonza infringed all the asserted claims of several Martek patents and that these patents were valid. It also found that Lonza acted willtully
in its infringement of one of these patents, The judge will now determine if any of'the jury's decisions were inappropriate as a matter of law, whether
Martek is entitled to a permanent injunction against Lonza, and, if so, whether the permanent injunction should be stayed pending the outcome of any
appeal. In connection with its patent defense, the Company has incurred and capitalized costs totaling $9.6 million.

led against the Company and certain of its officers, which have been
consolidated and in which plaintiffs are seeking class action status. The consolidated lawsuit was filed in United States District Court for the District
» among other things, that the defendants, including the Company, made false and misleading public statements and omissions
of material facts concerning the Company. The Company believes it has meritorious defenses and is defending vigorously against this action. The
Company is unable at this time to predict the outcome of this lawsuit or reasonably estimate a range of possible loss, if any. The Company believes

that the costs and expenses related to this Htigation could be significant. These lawsuils are further described in ltem 3 of Part [ of the Company's
Form 10-K for the year ended October 31, 2006.

Other The Company is involved in various other legal actions. Management believes that these actions, either individually or in the aggregate, will
not have a material adverse effect on the Company's results of operations or financial condition.

13. LICENSE AGREEMENTS

The Company has licensed certain technologies and recognized license fee revenue under variou

s agreements. License fees are recorded as deferred
revenue and amortized on a straight-line basis over the term of the agreement, generally 15 to 25 years. The Company recognized approximately

$500,000, $500,000 and $400.000 as license revenue for the years ended October 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. The balance of these license

fees and prepaid product purchases remaining in deferred Tevente was approximately $12.1 million and $9.7 million at October 31, 2066 and 2005,
respectively.

49




14. NET INCOME PER SHARE

Basic net income per share is computed using the weighted average aumber of common shares outstanding. Diluted net income per share is computed
using the weighted average number of common shares outstanding, giving effect to stock options and warrants using the treasury stock method.

The tollowing table presents the calculation of basic and diluted net income per share (in thousands, except per share amounts):

Year ended October 31,

2006 2005 2004

Net income g 17.811 8 15,284 by 47,048
Weighted average shares outstanding, basic 32013 31,164 29,033
Effect of dilutive potential common shares:

Stock options 230 849 1.315

Warrants — 19 38
Total dilutive potential common shares 230 868 1,353
Weightcd average shares outstanding, diluted 32,343 32,032 30,386
Net income per share, basic $ 0.55 $ 0.49 $ 1.62
Net income per share, diluted b 0.55 $ 0.48 % 1.55

Employee stock options 1o purchase approximately 2.7 million. 1.7 million and 600,000 shares were outstanding but were not included in the
computation of diluted net income per share for the years ended October 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively, because the effects would have been
antidilutive.

15. STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Issuance of Contmon Stock

1n January 2005, the Company completed an underwritten public offering of 1,756,614 shares of common stock at price of $49.10 per share pursuant
to a shelf registration statement, Net proceeds to the Company, afier deducting an underwriting discount and offering expenses, amounted to
approximately 381.4 million. Of the proceeds, $30 million was used for the partial repayment of debt.

In February 2004, the Company completed an underwritten issuance of 176,885 shares of common stock at a price of $65.59 per share pursuant toa
shelf registration. Net proceeds to the Company. after deducting underwriters’ fees and expenses, amounted to approximately $11.3 million.

Stockholder Rights Plan

In February 2006, the Company’s Board of Directors approved the renewal of its Stockholder Rights Plan through the adoption of a new Rights
Agreement. The new Rights Agreement was effective as of February 7, 2006, which was the date that Mariek’s then-existing Rights Agreement
expired. All rights under the previous Rights Agreement were cancelled upon its expiration.

[n connection with the adoption of the new Rights Agreement. preferred stock purchase rights ("Rights") were granted as a dividend at the rate of one
Right for each share of the Company's common stock held of record at the close of business on February 7, 2006. Each share issued after February 7,
2006 also is accompanied by a Right. Each Right provides the holder the opportunity to purchase 1/1000th of a share of Series B Junior Participating
Preferred Stock under certain circumstances at a price of $150 per share of such preferred stock. All rights expire on February 7. 2016.

At the time of adoption of the Rights Plan, the Rights were neither exercisable nor traded separately from the common stock. The Rights will be
exercisable only i a person or group in the future becomes the beneficial owner of 20% or more of the common stock or announces a tender or
exchange offer which would result in its ownership of 20% or more of the common stock. Ten days aftera public announcement that a person or
group has become the beneficial owner of 20% or more of the common stock, each holder of a Right, other than the acquiring person, would be
entitled to purchase $300 worth of the common stock of the Company for each Right at the exercise price of $150 per Right, which would effectively
enable such Right-holders to purchase the common stock at one-half of the then-current price.

If the Company is acquired in a merger. of 50% or more of the Company’s assets are sold in one or more related transactions, each Right would entitle
the holder thereof to purchase $300 worth of common stock of the acquiring company at the exercise price of $150 per Right, which would effectively

enable such Right-holders to purchase the acquiring company's common stock at one-half of the then-current market price.

At any time after a person or group of persons becomes the beneficial owner of 20% or more of the common stock, the Board of Directors, on behalf
of all stockholders, may exchange one share of common stock for each Right, other than Rights held by the acquiring person.
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The Board of Directors may authorize the redemption of the Rights, at a redemption price of $.001 per Right, at any time until ten days (as such period
may be extended or shortened by the Board) following the public announcement that a person or group of persons has acquired beneficial ownership
of 20% or more of the outstanding common stock.

The Rights Agreement provides that at least once cevery three years the Board of Directors will review and evaluaie the Rights Agreement in order ta
consider whether the maintenance of the Rights Agreement continues to be jn the interests of the Company and its stockholders.

16. INCOME TAXES

The difference between the tax provision and the amount that would be computed by applying the statutory Federal income tax rate to income before
taxes is attributable to the following (in thousands):

Year ended October 31,

2006 2008 2004
Federal income tax expense a1 35% $ 9817 S 8425 § 76356
State taxes, net of Federal benefit 251 283 H28
Change in valuation allowance — — (33.593)
Other 170 78 (67)
Total provision (benefir) § 10.238 S 8.786 S‘QS_. | 76.)

During the year ended Qctober 3 1, 2004, the Company reversed approximately $51 million of its deferred tax asset valuation allowance, This
reversal resulted in the recognition of an income tax benefit totaling $25.2 million, a direct increase to stockholders equity of approximately $22. %
million due to historical non-qualified stock option exercises and a decrease to goodwill of approximately $2.6 million due to certain basis differences
and net operating loss carryforwards resulting from the Company's acquisition of OmegaTech.

Substantially all of the provision or benefit for income taxes in fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004 results from changes in deferred income taxes.
axes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities for financial reporting

L
amounts used for income tax purposes as well as net operating loss carryforwards. Significam components of the Company's net
deferred income taxes are as follows (in thousands):

Deferred income
purposes and the

October 31,

2006 2005

Deferred tax assets:
Accruals and reserves $ 1815 $ {408
Patents and trademarks 309 528
Net operating loss carryforwards 66,437 77,833
Deferred revenue 4.271 3,494
Equity-based compensation 1,306 —
Other 79 214

Total assets 74,217 83,477
Deferred tax liabilities:
Property, plant and equipment (10.513) (5.958)
Acquired intangibles (3,051) (3.507)
Goodwili (816) (559)
Other (101} —)

Total liabilitics (14.,481) (10.024)
Total deferred tax asset 59,736 73,453
Valuation allowance {18,586) (23.832)
Deferred tax asset, net of valuation allowance 41,150 49,621
Less: current deferred tax assel (1.181) (1.420)
Long-term deferred tax asset $ 39969 $_ 4320t

— —_——
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Realization of total deferred 1ax assets is contingent upon the generation of future taxable income. Due to the uncertainty of realization, a valuation
allowance against certain deferred tax assets primarily related to net operating loss carryforwards has been recorded as of October 31, 2006 and 2005.
Should realization of these deferred tax assets become more likely than not, approximately $9.9 million of the resulting benefit will be reflected as an
income tax benefit upon reversal of the allowance, approximately $7.3 million will be reflected as a reduction to goodwill and approximately $1.4
million will be reflected as an increase to stockholders' equity. Although the Company has net operating losses available to offset future taxable
income, the Company may be subject to Federal alternative minimum taxes.

In connection with its implementation of SFAS 123R on November 1, 2006, the Company adopted the tax law method for determining the order in
which deductions, carryforwards and credits are realized by the Company. Consistent with the tax law approach, the Company recorded increases to
additional paid-in capital of approximately $4.9 million in fiscal 2006 which related 10 the realization of the tax benefits associated with fiscal 2006
nen-qualified stock exercises and the reversal of valuation allowance on certain net operating loss carryforwards related to stock option exercises in
prior years that were deemed realized during fiscal year 2006. Furthermore, during the fiscal 2006, the Company made a correction to its accounting
for certain prior year stock option exercises whose benefit had been fully recognized as an increase to additional paid in capital. This correction
resulted in a $3.3 million decrease to deferred tax asset and a corresponding decrease t0 additional paid-in capital.

As of October 31, 2006, the Company had net operating 10ss carryforwards for Federal income tax purposes of approximately $183 million, which
expire at various dates between 2010 and 2025, The timing and manner in which U.S. net operating loss carryforwards may be utilized may be limited
if the Company incurs a change in ownership as defined under Secuon 182 of the intemnal Revenue Code.

17. EMPLOYEE 401(K) PLAN

The Company maintains an employec 401(k) Plan {the "Plan”). The Plan, which covers all employees 21 years of age or older, stipulates that
panticipating employces may elect an amount up to 100% of their total compensation to contribute to the Plan, not to exceed the maximum allowable
by Internal Revenue Service regulations. The Company may make "matching contributions” equal to a discretionary percentage up to 3% ofa
participant's salary. based on deductions of up to 6% of a participant's salary. All amounts deferred by a panicipant under the 401(k) Plan's salary
reduction feature vest immediately in the participant's account while contributions the Company may make would vest over a five-year period in the
participant's account. The Company contribution was approximately $900.000. $800,000 and $600,000 for the years ended QOctober 31, 2006, 2005
and 2004, respectively.

18. QUARTERLY FINANCIAL INFORMATION (unaudited)

Quarterly financial information for fiscal 2006 and 2005 is presented in the following table (in thousands, except per share data).

st 2nd Ird 4th
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
2006
Total revenues $ 62,892 $ 70,218 $ 70,358 $ 67,186
Cost of revenues 38,209 42,975 43 875 43,694
income from operations 9.295 10,280 8717 1.285(1})
Net income 5.583 6.288 5.299 641{1)
Net income per share, basic 0.17 0.20 16 0.02
Net income per share, diluted 017 019 0.16 0.02
2005
Total revenucs S 66,489 $ 55,831 $ 39,489(2) $ 56,043
Cost of revenues 38.906 35377 25,690 33,408
Income (loss) from operations 11.137 4951 (58M)(2) 7.444
Net income (loss) 7,072 3,433 (109)(2) 4,888
Net income {loss) per share, basic 0.24 0.11 (0.00) 0.15
Net income {loss) per share. diluted 0.23 011 (0.00) 0.15

(1) In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2006, Martck recognized a charge of $4.7 million related to the restructuring of plant operations (see Note 11).

(2) In the third quarter of fiscal 2005, revenues declined due to a build-up of inventory by certain customers.
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